ISCTE O Business School Instituto Universitário de Lisboa

THE EFFECT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE QUALITY ON THE STRATEGIC USE OF NON-GAAP DISCLOSURES TO BEAT EARNINGS BENCHMARKS

Filipa dos Reis Nunes

Dissertation for the degree of Master of Accountancy

Supervisor: Prof. Doctor Helena Isidro, Associate Professor, ISCTE-IUL Business School, Accounting Department

April, 2012

THE EFFECT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE QUALITY ON THE STRATEGIC USE OF NON-GAAP DISCLOSURES TO BEAT EARNINGS BENCHMARKS

Aos meus pais, padrinhos e irmão...

"After climbing a great hill, one only finds that there are many more hills to climb." - Nelson Mandela

Acknowledgments

Although writing a thesis is a lonely road (and though only my name appears on the cover of this dissertation), there are many other involved, who supported and guided me to complete this work. I would like to extend my appreciation especially to the following.

First and foremost, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, Prof. Doctor Helena Isidro, for her excellent guidance and for the continuous support. Also, a special acknowledgment to Prof. Doctor Ana Marques, who patiently helped me during the collection of the data.

I am also indebted to all my friends (particularly, my friends Joana, Luciana, Sofia, Luís, Pedro e Renato) who helped me stay sane during this work. Their support and care helped me overcome setbacks.

Last but not least, none of this would have been possible without the patience and understanding of my family. Specially, I would like to thank my parents and brother for their unconditional support, constant encouragement and love. To them I dedicate this thesis.

Abstract

This study investigates the impact of corporate governance quality on the use of non-GAAP earnings measures to beat strategic earnings benchmarks. For this purpose, five strategic earnings benchmarks are considered: beating analysts' forecasts, reporting growth in profits, portraying better performance, beating industry performance and avoiding losses. Firms' governance quality is measured through an index combining 41 attributes.

For a sample of European firms, empirical results suggest that corporate governance has a strong influence on firms' voluntary disclosure decisions. Overall, firms' governance quality is capable of reducing managers' propensity to use non-GAAP metrics to meet or beat earnings thresholds. However, it does not seem to have similar influence on all benchmark beating strategies. In fact, the discretionary disclosure of non-GAAP earnings to exceed analysts' forecasts and to avoid losses is not mitigated by good governance practices. Also, governance mechanisms reduce the magnitude of the difference between non-GAAP earnings and both GAAP measures and analysts' expectations.

Keywords: non-GAAP measures; pro forma; earnings benchmarks; corporate governance.

JEL Classification: M41, M42

Resumo

O presente estudo pretende investigar o impacto da qualidade do *corporate governance* (governanção das sociedades) na utilização de medidas non-GAAP, divulgadas com o intuito de atingir estrategicamente *benchmarks* relativos a indicadores de rentabilidade. Para esse efeito, são considerados cinco diferentes *benchmarks*: superar as previsões dos analistas, divulgar um crescimento dos lucros, apresentar uma melhor performance, superar a média do sector e evitar divulgar perdas. Por sua vez, a qualidade de governação das empresas é medida através de um índice composto por 41 atributos.

Tendo por base uma amostra constituída por empresas europeias, os resultados da análise empírica sugerem que o *corporate governance* influencia significativamente as decisões das empresas relativas à divulgação de informação voluntária. De um modo geral, verifica-se que a qualidade de governação é passível de reduzir a propensão para os gestores usarem medidas non-GAAP a fim de atingirem os objetivos de referência. Contudo, constata-se que esta não influencia de forma igual todos os *benchmarks*. Efetivamente, as boas práticas de governação são incapazes de atenuar a utilização discricionária de medidas non-GAAP divulgadas com o intuito de superar as expectativas dos analistas e de evitar a comunicação de prejuízos. Além disso, os resultados indicam que os mecanismos de governação reduzem o valor diferencial entre as medidas non-GAAP e as GAAP, bem como entre as non-GAAP e as previsões dos analistas.

Palavras-chave: medidas non-GAAP; pro forma; *benchmarks* referentes a indicadores de rentabilidade; governação das sociedades.

JEL Classification: M41, M42

Executive Summary

In recent years, it has become common practice for many companies to voluntarily disclose non-audited performance metrics (frequently called non-GAAP measures) that fall beyond the scope of generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). However, since these measures are often not subject to regulation, managers benefit from a considerable degree of discretion in defining their non-GAAP earnings figures. Prior literature asserts that this discretion can be used in two ways. On the one hand, managers can use their reporting freedom to reduce information asymmetry by providing a clearer picture of "core earnings" to the users of financial information. On the other hand, non-GAAP numbers can be opportunistically disclosed, in an attempt to manipulate investors' perceptions of the financial results of the firm.

Regarding this opportunistic view of non-GAAP reporting, previous studies suggest two pro forma reporting decisions that are likely to indicate opportunistic behavior. First, firms frequently exclude recurring or persistent expenses that are included in GAAPbased income, in order to portray better firm performance. Second, non-GAAP numbers are often used to appear to meet strategic earnings benchmarks that otherwise would have been missed by GAAP earnings. This second practice constitutes the main subject of this study.

More specifically, this research intends to investigate the extent to which corporate governance mechanisms act as deterrents to potentially misleading non-GAAP reporting practices associated with benchmark beating strategies. For this purpose, five strategic earnings benchmarks are considered: beating analysts' forecasts, reporting growth in profits, portraying better performance, beating industry performance and avoiding losses. Firms' governance quality is measured through an index combining 41 attributes.

The sample used in this analysis is drawn from the *Financial Times* 2006 classification of the 500 largest European firms. For each firm, the press releases of the annual earnings announcements for five fiscal years of 2003 to 2007 were collected and analyzed. After eliminating firm-years with missing press releases the final sample comprises 1551 observations representing 319 firms from 21 European countries.

Overall, the empirical results suggest that corporate governance has a strong influence on firms' voluntary disclosure decisions. In fact, firms' governance quality is negatively associated with managers' propensity to use non-GAAP measures for benchmark beating strategies. However, it does not seem to be effective at restraining the use of alternative earnings metrics to exceed analysts' expectations and to avoid losses. Additionally, this study provides evidence that, in a virtually unregulated setting, such as the European markets, corporate governance is effective at reducing potentially misleading non-GAAP adjustments. In fact, good governance quality seems to be capable of reducing the discretionary behavior associated with higher levels of exclusions.

Contents

1. Introduction1
2. Background information and relevant literature4
2.1 Corporate governance mechanisms
2.1.1 Why is Corporate Governance important?
2.1.2 Corporate Governance Standards
2.1.3 The determinants of corporate governance quality7
2.2 Voluntary disclosure
2.2.1 Motives for reporting non-GAAP earnings: informative view versus opportunistic view
2.2.2 Regulation of non-GAAP disclosures
2.2.3 Prior research on determinants of non-GAAP disclosure decisions16
3. Hypotheses development21
4. Sample selection and data collection24
5. Research design
5.1 Model definition
5.2 Variable descriptions
5.2.1 Dependent variables
5.2.2 Independent variables

6. Descriptive Evidence	34
7. Empirical results	42
7.1 Governance quality and earnings benchmark beating	42
7.2 Governance quality and the magnitude of non-GAAP adjustments	48
7.2.1 Total non-GAAP adjustments made by managers	48
7.2.2 Non-GAAP adjustments made by managers to exceed analysts' forecasts	50
7.3 Regression Assumptions	52
7.3.1 Linear regression model	52
7.3.2 Logistic regression model	53
8. Conclusion, limitations and future research	54
9. References	56
Appendix 1	64
Appendix 2	65
Appendix 3	66
Appendix 4	67

List of Tables

Table 1. Types of non-GAAP measures 26
Table 2. Frequency of non-GAAP reporting
Table 3. Total adjustments made by managers to GAAP earnings
Table 4. Adjustments made by managers to beat analysts' forecasts
Table 5. Descriptive statistics
Table 6. The effect of governance quality on the use of non-GAAP disclosures to beat strategic earnings benchmarks
Table 7. The effect of governance quality on the level of non-GAAP adjustments made by managers
Table 8. The effect of governance quality on the level of non-GAAP adjustments made by managers to exceed analysts' forecasts
Table 9. Firm-level governance attributes 64
Table 9. Firm-level governance attributes64 Table 10. Variable definitions65
Table 10. Variable definitions
Table 10. Variable definitions
Table 10. Variable definitions

List of Figures

Figure 1. Governance quality mean by year	.66
Figure 2. Scatter plot between standardized predicted values and standardized error residuals for managers' adjustments	.67
Figure 3. Scatter plot between standardized predicted values and standardized error residuals for managers' incremental adjustments	.67
Figure 4. Histogram of the residuals for the linear regression model where the dependent variable is managers' adjustments	.69
Figure 5. Histogram of the residuals for the linear regression model where the dependent variable is managers' incremental adjustments	.69

1. Introduction

In recent years, it has become fairly common for companies to disclose non-audited earnings figures that do not follow generally accepted accounting principles (frequently called "non-GAAP" measures) in their earnings press releases. Since these measures are often not subject to regulation, managers benefit from a considerable degree of discretion in defining their non-GAAP earnings figures, which has fueled an intense debate among academics and regulators. On the one hand, managers can use their discretion to reduce information asymmetry by providing a clearer picture of "core earnings" to the users of financial information. On the other hand, non-GAAP numbers can be opportunistically disclosed, in an attempt to manipulate investors' perceptions of the financial results of the firm. In this opportunistic view of non-GAAP reporting, prior research (e.g., Doyle and Solimon, 2002; Black and Christensen, 2009; Isidro and Marques, 2010) suggests that some managers may use non-GAAP numbers to appear to meet certain strategic earnings thresholds – that otherwise would have been missed by GAAP measures – as this can lead to an appreciation of the market valuation of the firm.

The primary objective of this study is to investigate the impact of corporate governance quality on the use of non-GAAP earnings measures to beat strategic earnings benchmarks. For this purpose, five strategic earnings benchmarks are considered: beating analysts' forecasts, reporting growth in profits, portraying better performance, beating industry performance and avoiding losses. Firms' governance quality is measured through an index combining 41 attributes.

THE EFFECT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE QUALITY ON THE STRATEGIC USE OF NON-GAAP DISCLOSURES TO BEAT EARNINGS BENCHMARKS

Previous studies (Bushee, 1998; Peasnell et al., 2005; Frankel et al., 2011) find evidence suggesting that firms with a high proportion of institutional ownership and a high level of independent directors are less likely to make income-increasing adjustments in order to meet earnings benchmarks. This study complements prior literature by considering additional characteristics of governance quality. In addition, a significant amount of empirical research (e.g., Doyle et al., 2003; Entwistle et al., 2006b; Christensen, 2007) suggest that higher levels of adjustments are more likely to be associated with opportunistic behavior. To address this question, this research also explores the effect of governance quality on the magnitude of two types of potentially misleading non-GAAP adjustments: those that are made to exceed GAAP earnings and those that are made to meet or beat analysts' forecasts.

The extant literature pertaining to the impact of governance mechanisms on voluntary reporting decisions typically focus on the U.S. environment. Klapper and Love (2004) find that "good governance practices are more important in countries with weak shareholder rights and inefficient enforcement". Hence, it is important to analyze how governance quality influences firms' financial reporting in the European context, as it is characterized by weak enforcement structures (compared to the U.S.) and by the inexistence of strict rules on the disclosure of non-GAAP financial measures.

The sample used in this analysis is drawn from the *Financial Times* 2006 classification of the 500 largest European firms, which is based on the 2005 financial reports. For each firm, the press releases of the annual earnings announcements for five fiscal years of 2003 to 2007 were collected and analyzed. In order to obtain the most accurate and credible information about the incidence of disclosure of non-GAAP financial measures, data within the original press releases was then hand-collected. After eliminating firm-years with missing press releases the final sample comprises 1551 observations representing 319 firms from 21 European countries.

Taken together, empirical results suggest that governance quality is capable of curbing opportunistic use of non-GAAP metrics to achieve earnings thresholds. However, there is no consistent evidence that good governance practices are effective at mitigating the discretionary disclosure of non-GAAP earnings to exceed analysts' forecasts and to avoid losses. These findings are in line with the literature on the relative importance of earnings benchmarks (Brown and Caylor, 2005; Degeorge et al., 1999), which denotes

the great importance given by managers to these two earnings thresholds. This may explain why they seem to prevail even when firms adopt better governance attributes.

Also, governance quality seems to be capable of reducing the magnitude of the difference between non-GAAP earnings and both GAAP measures and analysts' expectations. Thus, although good governance quality does not seem to be effective at restraining the use of non-GAAP measures to exceed the analyst forecast benchmark, it is capable of reducing the difference between non-GAAP earnings and analysts' forecasts.

The remainder of this study is organized as follows. Section 2 discusses the relevant prior literature. Section 3 presents the hypothesis development. Section 4 describes the data and sample. Section 5 outlines the research design. Section 6 reports the descriptive evidence. The empirical results are analyzed in Section 7. The last section concludes the study.

2. Background information and relevant literature

2.1 Corporate governance mechanisms

High profile accounting scandals at prominent companies such as Parmalat, Enron and WorldCom have raised concerns about business ethics and have brought the importance of corporate governance mechanisms to the spotlight. However, despite the fluent and widespread use of the term, there is no universally accepted definition of corporate governance (Solomon and Solomon, 1999).

The Cadbury Report¹ broadly defines corporate governance as the system by which companies are directed and controlled. Using the definition of Shleifer and Vishny (1997), corporate governance "deals with the ways in which suppliers of finance to corporations assure themselves of getting a return on their investment". OECD Principles of Corporate Governance (OECD, 2004) state that corporate governance structure specifies the distribution of rights and responsibilities among the different participants in the organization – such as the board, managers, shareholders and other stakeholders – and by doing this, it also provides "the structure through which the objectives of the company are set, and the means of attaining those objectives and monitoring performance are determined." Claessens (2003) defines corporate governance as a set of mechanisms through which firms operate when there is a separation of ownership and control. In fact, due to this separation, there is a danger that managers have incentives to pursue their own goals at the expense of those of

¹ See Committee on the Financial Aspects of Corporate Governance (1992).

shareholders (Hart, 1995), leading to a problem of moral hazard. This guides us to the agency problem², which refers to the difficulties shareholders have in assuring that their funds are not expropriated or wasted on unprofitable projects (Shleifer and Vishny, 1997).

Several governance mechanisms can align managers and shareholders' interests, reducing the inefficiencies that arise from information asymmetry and thus alleviating the agency problems associated with the separation of ownership and control. Corporate governance mechanisms can be split into two categories, internal and external (Aggarwal and Williamson, 2006; Gillan, 2006). Internal mechanisms include the equity ownership structure of the firm, performance-based compensation contracts, anti-takeover provisions, issues related to the board of directors (such as duality and the proportion of outside directors) and its sub-board committees (the audit, remuneration and nomination committees). On the other hand, external mechanisms include the legal and regulatory structure, the market for corporate control, labor and product markets, investor monitoring and media pressure (analyst ratings).

2.1.1 Why is Corporate Governance important?

James Wolfensohn, former president of the World Bank, has commented that "the governance of the corporation is now as important to the world economy as the government of countries" (Wolfensohn, 1998). Indeed, as markets become more open and global, economic interdependence increases and thus the ability to gain public confidence of global markets is becoming more and more crucial. In this regard, the presence of an effective corporate governance structure promotes the efficient use of resources, the timely and accurate financial disclosure and the effective monitoring of management, hence, enhancing market confidence. Furthermore, corporate governance holds "the balance between economic and social goals and between individual and communal goals" (Committee on the Financial Aspects of Corporate Governance, 1992) creating wealth, jobs and the sustainability of companies. In short, corporate governance has implications "not only to shareowners but also to employees, customers, those

 $^{^2}$ Jensen and Meckling (1976) define an agency relationship as "a contract under which one or more persons (the principal(s)) engage another person (the agent) to perform some service on their behalf which involves delegating some decision making authority to the agent."

financing the company, and other stakeholders, including the communities in which the business operates" (IFC/UNGC, 2009).

A large number of studies (Gompers et al., 2003; Klapper and Love, 2004; Durnev and Kim, 2005; Black et al., 2006) report that sound corporate governance practices are associated with a higher firm's market value.

Nonetheless, adopting better governance imposes some costs on companies as well. Aggarwal et al. (2009) report that firms may have to incur expenses related to the adoption of governance attributes (for instance, it is costly to use a higher-quality external auditor) and to ensure that its adoption of governance attributes is credible. Moreover, they assert that corporate governance practices may limit the flexibility of management.

2.1.2 Corporate Governance Standards

Highly-publicized accounting scandals led to the introduction in the U.S. of the Sarbanes Oxley (SOX) Act of 2002, designed with the purpose of strengthening corporate accountability and internal governance mechanisms. The Act established strict mandatory standards for all US publicly traded companies. First, it requires senior management to review each annual or quarterly report and to certify the accuracy of the information disclosed. Second, it mandates that management and external auditors establish an internal control structure for financial reporting and assess the adequacy and effectiveness of those controls. Zhang (2007) shows that this last requirement imposes significant costs on firms. In addition, in November 2003 the Securities and Exchange Commission approved new rules proposed by the NYSE and the NASDAQ. For instance, these rules require listed companies' boards to consist of a majority of independent directors and propose the board to meet at regularly executive sessions without management being present. In this regard, Aggarwal and Williamson (2006) find that the market put higher value on companies that were complying with new regulations. Besides, they report the firm value impact is particularly strong for firms that had voluntarily adopted the new governance attributes, before the regulations were mandatory. Nevertheless, Ribstein (2002) asserts that the accounting scandals did not justify the new corporate regulations since "markets are capable of responding more quickly and precisely than regulation to corporate fraud."

Concerns about inadequate corporate governance have not been limited to the U.S. In the European context, the European Commission issued in May 2003 a Communication titled "Modernizing Company Law and Enhancing Corporate Governance in the European Union-A Plan to Move Forward" in order to achieve two main objectives: to strengthen shareholder rights and to foster efficiency and competitiveness of business (Commission of the European Communities, 2003). This Action Plan is based on a comprehensive set of proposals aimed at improving corporate governance disclosure (in particular, better information on the role played by institutional investors is required), strengthening shareholder protection, modernizing board structures and enhancing directors' responsibilities for financial and key nonfinancial statements. By 2007, all 27 Member States had issued codes of corporate governance. By 2009, listed companies in the EU have been required to include in their annual documents a corporate governance statement. This statement must describe the key structures and practices of the corporate governance code that the company is applying and explain whether, and to what extent, the company complies with that code. The European Commission believes that this principles-based approach centered on the comply-or-explain mechanism respects the differences in corporate traditions across the EU. Indeed, the Commission does not want to enact a European Code of Corporate Governance because "the basis of codes of corporate governance should come from the markets and/or national legislation" (International Finance Corporation, 2008).

2.1.3 The determinants of corporate governance quality

Aggarwal et al. (2009) stress that the controlling shareholder's choice of governance mechanisms depends both on country-level as well as firm-level mechanisms. In fact, prior research has shown that the costs and benefits for minority shareholders resulting from the adoption of governance attributes differ across countries and across firms.

Country characteristics

Doidge et al. (2007) find that country characteristics are the most important determinant of a firm's governance. In fact, their findings show that country characteristics explain much more of the variance in governance scores (ranging from 39% to 73%) than firm-specific characteristics (ranging from 4% to 22%). Using a sample covering 39

countries, they report that the quality of governance practices is positively related to the state protection of investor rights, the economic development and the financial development.

Consistent with these findings, Aggarwal et al. (2009) show that country-level investor protection plays an extremely important role in explaining the intensity of investment in internal governance. They use the internal governance of firms in the U.S. as a benchmark - since the U.S. is recognized to have high financial and economic development and to have strong investor protection - and find that foreign firms invest less in internal governance mechanisms that increase the power of minority shareholders than comparable U.S. firms do. In addition, they emphasize that laws and regulations requiring specific choices of governance attributes as well as culture and norms partly explain firms' governance practices. In this regard, they show that the legal origin of the country in which a firm is incorporated is the most important variable in predicting whether a firm will invest more in governance than its U.S. counterpart: firms which invest more in governance come from countries with common law. In accordance with this evidence, Bushman et al. (2004) document that governance transparency is higher in common law countries.

Firm characteristics

Aggarwal et al. (2009) also demonstrate that smaller firms have much lower governance scores than larger firms. To assess firm-level corporate governance similarly across all the firms, they use a corporate governance index³ based on 44 governance attributes, covering four broad sub-categories: (1) Board; (2) Audit; (3) Anti-takeover and (4) Compensation and Ownership.

Moreover, several studies (Klapper and Love, 2004; Bujaki and McConomy, 2002; Bruno and Claessens, 2007) find that companies with greater needs for external financing adopt better governance practices, given that corporate governance establishes mechanisms that improve investors' confidence about earning an adequate return on their investment (Shleifer and Vishny, 1997) and, hence, lowers the cost of external capital.

³ The index is expressed as a percentage. It assigns a value of one to a governance attribute if the company meets the threshold level for that standard and zero otherwise.

Other research shows that the quality of corporate governance is positively related to growth opportunities (Klapper and Love, 2004; Doidge et al., 2007) and to financial leverage (Silveira et al., 2009).

Regarding the firms' ownership structure, Durnev and Kim (2005) report a positive association between ownership concentration and corporate governance. However, a significant number of empirical studies (Zheka, 2007; Lee and Park, 2008; Silveira et al., 2009) observed the opposite - a negative link between the presence of large shareholders and the corporate governance quality. This result is likely due to the fact that "large owners need less governance and protection of their rights" (Zheka, 2007). Moreover, Silveira et al. (2009) find that the type of controlling shareholder can be an important determinant of corporate governance quality. They build a corporate governance index for approximately 200 listed Brazilian firms and conclude that family-controlled firms adopt weaker governance practices. Likewise, based on a set of four governance indices, Khanchel (2007) examine the determinants of good governance in the US listed firms and find that directors' and officers' ownership have a positive and significant effect on corporate governance quality. Also, Aggarwal et al. (2011) report that firm-level governance is positively associated with institutional ownership. Specifically, institutions from countries with strong protection for minority shareholders rights play a predominant role in promoting governance improvements outside of the U.S.

Finally, using a corporate governance rating constructed for publicly listed German firms, Drobetz et al. (2005) report that firms with larger boards have lower governance ratings whereas firms that use performance-based compensation contracts have higher ratings.

2.2 Voluntary disclosure

Corporate disclosure is critical for the functioning of an efficient capital market (Healy and Palepu, 2001). However, in recent years, in addition to reporting mandatory financial results in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), it has become common practice for many companies to voluntarily disclose non-audited performance measures that do not follow GAAP. These last measures, commonly known as "non-GAAP", "pro forma" or "alternative performance measures", are often not subject to regulation and therefore "may be used by firms in a discretionary way, potentially misleading investors and diminishing the efficient functioning of capital markets" (Isidro and Marques, 2011).

Frankel et al. (2011) define a non-GAAP earnings number as a "core" earnings measure that excludes components of GAAP earnings. According to Hitz (2010), these components are those "deemed non-recurrent or one-off items not representative of the entity's ongoing business and future performance prospects". Voluntary financial information may be provided through management forecasts, analysts' presentations and conference calls, press releases, internet sites, and other corporate reports (Healy and Palepu, 2001).

2.2.1 Motives for reporting non-GAAP earnings: informative view versus opportunistic view

Jennings and Marques (2011) suggest that firms compute non-GAAP earnings for a variety of reasons, including for compliance with loan agreements (since some firms have debt covenants with restrictions based on non-GAAP measures of earnings), for determining executive compensations, and for reporting to investors 'core' earnings that are most likely to recur in the future. This last reason, along with the considerable level of flexibility offered to managers in defining their own pro forma earnings metrics, has fueled an intense debate among academics and regulators.

On the one hand, proponents of pro forma reporting argue that managers arrive at non-GAAP earnings by excluding transitory items (such as restructuring charges and gains and losses on the sales of assets), "essentially removing noise from GAAP-based earnings and providing a more useful non-GAAP earnings measure for predicting future performance" (Jennings and Marques, 2011). Hence, in this informative view of non-GAAP measures, managers intend to reduce information asymmetry by providing a clearer picture of "core earnings" and conveying value-relevant⁴ information to investors that a GAAP-based earnings figure may not effectively communicate (Doyle

⁴ Value relevance is defined in the extant literature as the "relation between stock market values (or changes in values) and particular accounting numbers" (Holthausen and Watts, 2001). An accounting number is deemed value relevant if it has a significant association with stock market value.

and Solimon, 2002). On the other hand, regulators and other critics of non-GAAP reporting assert that managers may strategically use their discretion to exclude certain recurring or persistent expenses that are included in GAAP-based income, in order to depict a more favorable picture of firms' performance. In this opportunistic view of pro forma reporting, non-GAAP numbers are disclosed in a manner that can potentially mislead investors to the extent they treat these exclusions from GAAP-based income as transitory (when in fact they are relatively persistent) when forecasting the future. Significant empirical research has found evidence consistent with these two competing disclosure motives for reporting non-GAAP earnings.

Supporting the informative purpose, prior studies (Brown and Sivakumar, 2003; Bradshaw and Sloan, 2002) show that alternative performance measures are more valuerelevant than GAAP net income. Bhattacharya et al. (2003) find that non-GAAP earnings are more permanent than GAAP operating earnings, suggesting that non-GAAP earnings disclosures aid investors in predicting future earnings. Furthermore, Johnson and Schwartz (2005) find no evidence that "pro forma firms are priced differently by investors than are firms that disclose only GAAP earnings", which means that share prices, on average, do not behave as if investors just focus myopically on non-GAAP numbers. This evidence suggests that investors are not, on average, misled by pro forma earnings disclosures. Finally, some proponents of non-GAAP reporting contend that because GAAP earnings include the effects of non-recurring items, alternative performance measures that exclude such items enhance comparability (Halsey and Soybel, 2002; Phillips et al., 2002).

However, predominant belief is that managers may be motivated by opportunistic incentives. Prior research suggests two pro forma reporting decisions that are likely to indicate opportunistic behavior.

First, empirical research (Bhattacharya et al., 2003; Isidro and Marques, 2011) shows that firms frequently exclude recurring expenses (such as depreciation, stock-based compensation and research and development) and that this practice is especially indicative of manager opportunism (Doyle et al., 2003; Black and Christensen, 2009). Dharan (2002) asserts that Enron is a major example since just six weeks before it filed for bankruptcy protection, the company's earnings release said in an underlined and capitalized headline, "Enron Reports Recurring Third Quarter Earnings of \$0.43 per

diluted shares", while Enron actually lost \$618 million that quarter, for a loss of (\$0.84) per share. Thus, excluding \$1.01 billion of expenses (labeled as "non-recurring"), Enron converted a net loss of \$618 million into a "recurring net income" of \$393 million.

Second, previous studies document that non-GAAP numbers are strategically used to appear to meet earnings benchmarks that otherwise would have been missed by GAAP earnings. These studies report that non-GAAP adjustments help firms: (1) meet analysts' earnings expectations (Doyle and Solimon, 2002; Black and Christensen, 2009; Lougee and Marquardt, 2004; Isidro and Marques, 2010); (2) convert an operating loss to a non-GAAP profit (Black and Christensen, 2009; Peasnell et al., 2005; Dechow et al., 2003); (3) show growth in profits (Burgstahler and Dichev, 1997; Peasnell et al., 2005; Lougee and Marques, 2010; Bhattacharya et al. 2004) and (5) beat industry performance (Isidro and Marques, 2010). Moreover, Hitz (2010) and Marques (2010) suggest that when non-GAAP earnings are higher than a specific earnings benchmark but the GAAP number falls short of this benchmark, managers strategically position the non-GAAP more prominently, in an attempt to influence readers' perceptions of the financial results of the firm.

Furthermore, opponents of non-GAAP reporting argue that because no standard definition of non-GAAP earnings exists, alternative performance measures are not comparable across firms (Bhattacharya et al., 2003; Weil, 2001). Harvey Pitt, former chairman of the Securities & Exchange Commission, spoke about the pitfalls investors face with non-GAAP earnings: "An investor can't know what's been left out, why it's left out, or how it compares [with other companies' earnings]" (McNamee, 2001). A sharper criticism is that non-GAAP financial measures may not even be comparable within the same firm, when considering previous years' numbers, since firms do not use a consistent definition of non-GAAP earnings over successive periods (EFRAG, 2006). Bhattacharya et al. (2003) emphasize that "these are serious criticisms because comparability and consistency are fundamental qualities of financial information".

2.2.2 Regulation of non-GAAP disclosures

In the wake of a sharp increase in non-GAAP earnings reporting during the mid-nineties and widespread claims that firms use non-GAAP disclosures opportunistically to

THE EFFECT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE QUALITY ON THE STRATEGIC USE OF NON-GAAP DISCLOSURES TO BEAT EARNINGS BENCHMARKS

mislead investors, regulators have expressed concerns about the inconsistent and obscure use of alternative performance measures. Moreover, several high profile accounting scandals such as the collapse of Enron and the fall of WorldCom have intensified legislators' skepticism about unaudited and ad hoc corporate disclosures (Dreman, 2001; D'Avolio et al., 2001; Bhattacharya et al., 2003).

In the United States, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) has voiced apprehension that the proliferation of "alternative and inconsistent financial performance measures" reports is undermining the quality of financial reporting (FASB, 2002). Furthermore, the Securities and Exchange Commission has intervened twice on the topic of the disclosure of non-GAAP financial measures. In an "Investor Alert", issued on December 4, 2001, the SEC intended to warn public companies on their use of non-GAAP financial measures and to alert investors that non-GAAP measures "might create a confusing or misleading impression and should be viewed with appropriate and healthy skepticism."⁵ Lynn Turner, the then chief accountant of the SEC, has characterized non-GAAP metrics as EBS - 'everything but the bad stuff' - earnings. The second intervention was the implementation of a new disclosure regulation (Regulation G) in January of 2003 as directed by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Regulation G requires that, when a non-GAAP financial measure is disclosed, the firm must also provide a quantitative reconciliation between the non-GAAP number and the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure (clarifying the differences that exist between the two numbers). Prior studies (Marques, 2006; Heflin and Hsu, 2005; Entwistle et al., 2006a) report a significant decrease in the frequency of disclosure of non-GAAP earnings in 2003, suggesting a strong impact of the Regulation G on non-GAAP reporting.

In Europe, the need to provide a framework for boosting an adequate use of non-GAAP financial measures was first recognized in a cautionary statement issued by IOSCO (International Organization of Securities Commissions), in May 2002. In this statement, IOSCO (2002) mentions that "issuers, investors and other users of financial information are cautioned to use care when presenting and interpreting non-GAAP results measures" and that "regulatory actions may be taken if information is disclosed in a manner

⁵ The SEC has also issued "Tips for Investors" in order to recommend "a few things" investors should keep in mind when they see non-GAAP financial information. These include asking "What is the company assuming?" or "What is the company *not* saying?"

considered misleading". Nonetheless, from 2002 on, nothing happened in the process of regulating the disclosure of non-GAAP financial measures in European markets, until in October 2005 the Committee of European Securities Regulators (CESR) issued a recommendation on alternative performance measures. In this recommendation, CESR (2005) recognizes that non-GAAP measures "can assist investors in gaining a better understanding of a company's financial performance and strategy" if appropriately used and presented. Furthermore, this document contains several proposals to encourage European listed companies which decide to disclose non-GAAP measures "to do so in a way that is appropriate and useful for investor's decision making". It recommends, for instance, that issuers should "define the terminology used and the basis of calculation adopted", highlight GAAP defined measures with greater prominence than non-GAAP numbers, present alternative performance figures only in combination with defined measures and, in addition, explain the differences between both numbers (which might be done through a reconciliation).⁶ However, all of these guidelines are merely recommendations and therefore are not mandatory for European firms.

It is also important to consider that 2005 implementation of IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standards) in Europe has been associated with improvements in financial reporting quality, limiting management's opportunistic discretion and leading to a decrease in the use of alternative performance measures (Barth et al., 2008). In line with this belief, Isidro and Marques (2010) show that the adoption of IFRS diminishes the number of non-GAAP figures managers choose to disclose. Another view is that IFRS adoption has "introduced significant new accounting and reporting recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements" (Ernst & Young, 2006), increasing accounting complexity for many European companies and leading to the presentation of figures that "are incomprehensible to anyone other than a specialist" (Bruce, 2007). Hence, this may boost rather than reduce non-GAAP disclosures, given that managers have realized that "they have to use other avenues to get their message across" (Bruce, 2007). This is consistent with findings of Ernst & Young (2006) – a study based on a survey of the disclosures of 65 large European companies reporting under IFRS – which reports that the widespread use of alternative performance measures in companies'

⁶ CESR also recommends the presentation of non-GAAP measures consistently over time. However, Isidro and Marques (2008) assert that this may be more difficult to implement, given that non-recurring items "do not occur every reporting period and so firms will only identify them as factors to adjust their earnings for, in their calculation of non-GAAP financial measures, when they occur."

results announcements and presentations suggests that "companies do not seem confident that IFRS financial information is sufficient [...] for the purpose of communicating their performance to the markets."

More recently, in 2009, the European Financial Reporting Advisory Group (EFRAG) carried out a review of a sample of 50 European listed entities that have reported since 2005 under IFRS and discovered that the CESR recommendations, issued in 2005, were not taken seriously. The paper noted that the items adjusted for vary not only between different firms but also sometimes over time and that "an element of personal preference" might be involved. In addition, the survey suggests that "it is important that there are clear principles that underpin what is included and excluded" from GAAP earnings "in order to ensure the necessary comparability" (EFRAG, 2009).

In brief, while in the U.S. the regulator has implemented strict rules pertaining to voluntary disclosure of performance metrics, in Europe there is still no direct supranational regulation and all of the issued guidelines are not mandatory. At the national level, regulation is either absent or incomplete (Isidro and Marques, 2010). In the United Kingdom, Financial Reporting Standard 3 requires alternative earnings per share figures to "be presented on a consistent basis over time" and to be reconciled to the corresponding GAAP measure (Accounting Standards Board, 1992). In Sweden, Stockholm Stock Exchange require companies to include three specific GAAP measures (turnover, net profit and earnings per share) at the beginning of their earnings releases (Andersson and Hellman, 2007). In the French context, the Autorité des Marchés Financiers (AMF) has endorsed guidelines requesting a complete quantitative reconciliation between non-GAAP and GAAP metrics⁷. However, Aubert (2010) reports that French firms continue to use non-GAAP earnings in a discretionary way regardless of reconciliation requirements. In Germany, on a very broad level, the securities act forbids disclosure of misleading information but it is not specified whether this rule is applicable to non-GAAP reporting (Hitz, 2010).

⁷ In December 2011, the AMF issued a report in which identified "the presentation of non-GAAP financial measures without presentation of the most directly comparable measures calculated in accordance with GAAP" as one of the main deficiencies identified in disclosure documents (Autorité des Marchés Financiers, 2011).

2.2.3 Prior research on determinants of non-GAAP disclosure decisions

As a result of the substantial proliferation of non-GAAP reporting and the growing perception of alternative performance metrics as a vehicle for potentially misleading investors, academic research on the disclosure of non-GAAP earnings has flourished. Several studies, mostly framed in a U.S. context, have addressed the question of what affects managers' voluntary disclosure decisions. These studies have found important determinants of non-GAAP disclosure decisions: (1) corporate governance mechanisms; (2) strategic benchmark beating; (3) the value relevance of GAAP earnings and (4) other firm and environmental specific characteristics.

Corporate governance mechanisms

Prior research has documented that efficient governance mechanisms curb opportunistic financial reporting, which lead us to predict "better-governed firms tend to make more informative disclosures" (Beekes and Brown, 2006). Two measures of corporate governance, the proportion of independent members on the board of directors and the percent of shares held by institutions, have been found to particularly influence firms' voluntary disclosure decisions (Jennings and Marques, 2011).

With respect to the **proportion of outside directors**, prior research indicates that board independence improves the quality of financial reporting and disclosure. Beasley (1996) and Uzun et al. (2004) report that the inclusion of independent outside members on the board of directors makes it more effective at monitoring management and reduces the likelihood of corporate wrongdoing and financial fraud. Using Asian data, Eng and Mak (2003) and Gul and Leung (2004) find that an increase in outside directors results in a lower level of voluntary disclosure. Ajinkya et al. (2005) and Karamanou and Vafeas (2005) report that firms with a higher percentage of outside directors are more likely to issue less optimistically biased forecasts. Frankel et al. (2011) provide evidence consistent with board independence constraining opportunism in the disclosure of non-GAAP earnings. Using a sample spanning from 1998 to 2005, they found that managers are more likely to exclude recurring expenses from non-GAAP earnings when boards contain fewer independent directors. Isidro and Marques (2011) have extended findings from previous studies by measuring board quality via a score of board characteristics, such as CEO duality, the boards' attendance and the independence of committees. Their results show that an efficient board of directors can reduce the probability of reporting

discretionary non-GAAP measures and reduce the opportunistic emphasis given to non-GAAP information in the earnings release. However, they also found that the propensity to adjust for recurring items and the decision to provide reconciliation information are not influenced by the quality of the board.

Regarding the role of **institutional ownership**, Bushee (1998) provides evidence that managers are less likely to cut R&D expenses in order to reverse an earnings decline when institutional ownership is high, implying that institutional investors serve a monitoring role that reduces managerial behavior. In addition, Jiambalvo et al. (2002) and Velury and Jenkins (2006) report a positive association between institutional ownership and earnings quality. Consistent with the presence of institutional investors resulting in more transparent reporting, Isidro and Marques (2010) find that a strong presence of institutional investors reduces incentives to disclose more than one non-GAAP figure. On the other hand, El-Gazzar (1998) states that large institutional ownership may induce a high level of voluntary disclosure, given that institutional investors are considered to be more information demanding. Moreover, managers often justify the use of non-GAAP reporting because sophisticated users such as financial analysts and institutional investors find non-GAAP earnings incrementally informative (Bowen et al., 2005). Consistent with this view, Lakhal (2003) finds that French firms with a higher percentage of shares held by institutional investors are more likely to disclose voluntary financial information.

In addition, prior research suggests that a high level of **insider ownership** reduces incentives to disclose voluntary public information, as insiders have privileged access to information (Eng and Mak, 2003). Using European data, Isidro and Marques (2011) provide evidence that insider investors have a disciplinary effect of the adjustment for recurring items and thus help mitigate opportunistic behavior.

Furthermore, previous studies identify the **legal/regulatory structures** as an external governance mechanism particularly important in preventing opportunistic non-GAAP reporting. Bowen et al. (2005) and Entwistle et al. (2006b) find that subsequent to the SEC interventions firms present non-GAAP numbers in earnings releases in a much less prominent and less potentially misleading manner. Entwistle et al. (2006a) report that prior to the regulation, potentially misleading disclosure practices were seen in over 10% of all S&P 500 firms. Most commonly this was being done through the press

release headline using GAAP terminology to describe what later in the press release was revealed to be a non-GAAP metric. In the post-Regulation G period, they find less than 1% of cases of potentially misleading disclosure. Additionally, Yi (2007) and Kolev et al. (2008) show that non-GAAP exclusions are of higher quality (more transitory) and that non-GAAP earnings are more value-relevant following SEC intervention. In the European context, Hitz (2010) reports that firms that adopted IFRS prior to 2005 on a voluntary basis are less likely to disclose non-GAAP earnings than firms that were forced to adopt those standards by the EU regulation and Isidro and Marques (2010) provide evidence that efficient legal systems are important but not sufficient to improve voluntary reporting quality.

Moreover, Klapper and Love (2004) assert that good governance practices can offset the weakness of regulation and legal systems. In line with this, Jennings and Marques (2011) suggest that "corporate governance can be viewed as a substitute for regulation". For firms with strong corporate governance⁸, they find no evidence that investors were misled by non-GAAP adjustments either before or after the SEC intervention. In opposition, for firms with weaker corporate governance, they find that prior to the SEC intervention in 2003 investors were misled by recurring non-GAAP adjustments. Nonetheless, their results indicate that the SEC intervention eliminated the extent to which investors were misled by firms with weaker corporate governance. Frankel et al. (2011) also found that the relation between board independence and the quality of non-GAAP exclusions is no longer significant after Regulation G, which is consistent with "board independence playing less of a role when there is an alternative monitoring mechanism".

According to agency theory, **performance-based compensation contracts** are an effective way to align the interests of "risk-averse self-interested" managers with those of their shareholders (Murphy, 1998). While compensation contracts are not usually linked to non-GAAP numbers, non-GAAP information "can be used opportunistically to enhance the market valuation of the firm and thus increase performance-based compensation" (Isidro and Marques, 2011). Black et al. (2011) show that, in the U.S., compensation contracts can deter managers from using non-GAAP reporting in an opportunistic way but only if they include a long-term performance plan. On the other

⁸ Jennings and Marques (2011) measured corporate governance in two ways, as the percent of outsiders on the board of directors and the percent of shares held by institutional investors.

hand, when bonus compensation focuses on short-term performance, managers are more likely to engage in potentially misleading non-GAAP adjustments. Based on European data, Isidro and Marques (2011) report that the propensity to disclose non-GAAP metrics in earnings releases is significantly higher when compensation is tied to the market performance of the firm. Moreover, they provide evidence that when this type of compensation is used managers are more likely to engage in practices that are consistent with opportunistic non-GAAP reporting (such as report non-GAAP figures in the title of the press release, make more adjustments for recurring items, and avoid reporting reconciliations).

Also, prior literature emphasizes the critical monitoring role of **auditors** in capital markets to ensure that financial information is not misleading. As already pointed out above, earnings releases are not audited. Notwithstanding, anecdotal evidence suggests that auditors almost always review their clients' earnings announcements before they are publicly released. Black et al. (2011) document that auditor effort (as measured by audit fees) is negatively associated with managers' opportunistic use of non-GAAP adjustments.

At last, Mbagwu (2007) reports that strengthening the governance mechanisms enhances the perceived credibility of non-GAAP information and consequently increases investor confidence.

Strategic benchmark beating

As already mentioned, the use of non-GAAP figures to meet earnings benchmarks that otherwise would have been missed by GAAP earnings is most likely associated with discretionary reporting behavior. Isidro and Marques (2010) find that strategic benchmark beating is an important determinant of non-GAAP disclosure decisions in Europe. In fact, they report a positive association between the number of non-GAAP earnings measures reported in annual announcements' press releases and the propensity to meet five different earnings benchmarks (meet analysts' earnings expectations, avoid reporting losses, show growth in profits, portray better performance and beat industry performance). Their results also suggest that managers choose to disclose more than one non-GAAP measure and to repeat non-GAAP information in the same earnings release to convince investors of benchmark achievement. Moreover, they report that strong investor protection and financial market development are the features capable of reducing this potentially misleading disclosure practice.

Value relevance of GAAP earnings

Prior research suggests that when GAAP earnings are less value-relevant (and thus less useful), managers are more likely to provide additional voluntary information to the market (Tasker, 1998). More importantly, Lougee and Marquardt (2004) provide evidence that firms with lower GAAP earnings quality are more likely to release non-GAAP earnings information than other firms. In addition, they also find that firms with negative earnings surprises⁹ are more willing to include non-GAAP earnings in their press releases.

Other firm and environmental specific characteristics

Several studies (Bhattacharya et al., 2004; Lougee and Marquardt, 2004) indicate that non-GAAP earnings announcers are concentrated in high-technology industries. This may be explained by the fact that high-technology firms tend to present less informative GAAP earnings since these firms invest heavily in intangibles such as research and development (Lev and Zarowin, 1999). Consequently, these companies may engage in non-GAAP reporting in order to remove the effects of non-recurring items and thus present a more meaningful and useful earnings number. Accordingly, Isidro and Marques (2010) find a positive relation between the frequency of disclosure of non-GAAP metrics and the business intangible intensity. Also, firms that choose to disclose non-GAAP earnings measures have greater sales growth and greater earnings variability (Lougee and Marquardt, 2004). Francis et al. (2005) and Isidro and Marques (2010) report that firms with external financing needs are more likely to disclose alternative performance measures as a way to reduce information asymmetries and thus obtain funds at a lower cost. Lastly, overall better institutional and economic conditions (such as efficient institutions, strong enforcement, developed financial markets and good communication channels) are associated with more non-GAAP disclosures (Isidro and Marques, 2010).

⁹ They define earnings surprise as "the net income for the current quarter minus net income for the comparable quarter in the prior year".

3. Hypotheses development

According to the opportunistic view of non-GAAP disclosure, managers may strategically use their reporting freedom to manipulate readers' perceptions of the financial results of the firm. The main purpose of this study is to investigate whether and to what extent corporate governance mechanisms affect opportunistic non-GAAP reporting practices.

Prior research suggests that some managers may use non-GAAP numbers to appear to meet certain earnings thresholds that otherwise would have been missed by GAAP earnings and usually recognizes this practice as especially indicative of opportunistic behavior (e.g., Doyle and Solimon, 2002; Black and Christensen, 2009; Isidro and Marques, 2010). In fact, managers seek to meet or beat these thresholds in order to build credibility with capital markets (Graham et al. 2004) and to enhance the market valuation of the firm and thus increase their own compensation and private benefits, since agents reward firms that achieve the desired earnings benchmarks (Isidro and Marques, 2010). Moreover, in the European markets, the absence of non-GAAP disclosures regulation may encourage the strategic use of non-GAAP numbers to meet analysts' earnings expectations, avoid reporting losses, show growth in profits, portray better performance and beat industry performance.

As already mentioned, several studies provide evidence that efficient governance mechanisms (e.g., board independence, high institutional ownership) are particularly important in constraining opportunism in the disclosure of non-GAAP earnings, when regulation is weak (Klapper and Love, 2004; Durnev and Kim, 2005). Thus, good governance practices are expected to play an important role in preventing discretionary

use of non-GAAP numbers to clear earnings benchmarks in Europe, where voluntary disclosures are unregulated. In line with this, Peasnell et al. (2005) use UK data and find that firms with a higher proportion of outside board members are less likely to make income-increasing adjustments in order to avoid reporting both losses and earnings reductions. Additionally, Frankel et al. (2011) examine insider selling following earnings announcements where non-GAAP earnings enable the firm to meet or beat analysts' forecasts. They find that managers strategically use non-GAAP adjustments to exceed analysts' consensus forecasts before selling their personal shares and that this relation is stronger when boards are less independent. This evidence indicates that effective boards can mitigate the use of non-GAAP numbers for benchmark beating strategies. Further, Bushee (1998) provides evidence that managers are less likely to exclude recurring expenses in order to reverse an earnings decline when institutional ownership is high. Based on this literature, it is expected a negative association between firms' governance quality and their propensity to use non-GAAP measures to achieve strategic earnings benchmarks. Thus, the first hypothesis is stated as follows:

H₁: Good governance quality reduces the use of non-GAAP earnings measures to meet strategic earnings benchmarks.

Prior literature suggests that firms using voluntary disclosures to influence investors' perceptions are more likely to disclose non-GAAP earnings that exceed GAAP earnings. Several studies (Bhattacharya et al., 2003; Entwistle et al., 2006a; Isidro and Marques, 2011) find that non-GAAP figures are systematically higher than GAAP comparable measures, which indicates that expenses are excluded more often than revenue items. Moreover, Entwistle et al. (2006b) contend that the difference between non-GAAP and GAAP is likely to be larger for firms using voluntary disclosures opportunistically compared to firms disclosing non-GAAP numbers to convey relevant information about firm performance. Consistent with these findings, Isidro and Marques (2011) report that the value of the adjustments made to GAAP earnings is higher in firms where compensation is tied to market performance, which indicates an opportunistic motivation. Also, using a sample spanning from 1988 to 1999, Doyle et al. (2003) find that higher levels of non-GAAP adjustments are powerfully predictive of

future cash flows, indicating that the items excluded from the non-GAAP number are recurring and, therefore, have great potential to mislead investors.

Also, empirical research (Bhattacharya et al., 2003; Isidro and Marques, 2010; Black et al., 2011) finds that non-GAAP earnings are commonly higher than analysts' expectations (i.e., managers exclude more expenses than analysts exclude from their forecasts). Furthermore, Christensen (2007) report that incremental manager exclusions (beyond those made by analysts) are more likely to be opportunistic in nature. In a recent paper, Black et al. (2011) show that compensation contracts including a long-term performance plan are a governance mechanism capable of reducing managers' propensity to use non-GAAP adjustments to appear to meet or beat analysts' expectations when they would fall short based on GAAP earnings.

Using data gathered from the earnings releases of S&P 500 companies, Entwistle et al. (2006b) document a sharp reduction in the magnitude of the gap between non-GAAP and GAAP earnings, following the introduction of Regulation G in 2003. Additionally, Jennings and Marques (2011) suggest that "corporate governance can be viewed as a substitute for regulation". In fact, they find that, in the absence of regulation, corporate governance is effective at protecting investors from misleading non-GAAP adjustments (in particular, those that are recurring and those that are made to just meet or beat analysts' forecasts). Hence, one can expect governance quality to be particularly important in decreasing the extent to which non-GAAP earnings communicate higher earnings than both GAAP and analysts' consensus forecasts in Europe, as there is no regulation. In other words, it is expected a negative association between governance quality and the magnitude of the difference between non-GAAP earnings and both GAAP measures and analysts' expectations. The second and third hypotheses are thus defined as indicated below:

H₂: Good governance quality reduces the level of adjustments made by managers to GAAP earnings in the calculation of non-GAAP earnings.

H₃: Good Governance quality reduces the level of adjustments made by managers to GAAP earnings to achieve analyst earnings forecasts.

4. Sample selection and data collection

The initial sample consisted of all firms included in the *Financial Times* 2006 classification of the 500 largest European firms, which is based on the 2005 financial reports. This sample was chosen for three reasons. First, this selection criteria results in a set of firms that, because of its size, are economically important, not only in Europe, but also in the context of the global economy. Second, since it comprises firms from several countries, it allows analyzing companies which operate in different institutional and economic environments. Lastly, the European context appears particularly suitable for investigating voluntary reporting practices, as there are still no strict rules on the disclosure of non-GAAP financial measures in any European country. Several authors (Klapper and Love, 2004; Durnev and Kim, 2005; Jennings and Marques, 2011) suggest that corporate governance can offset the weakness of regulation and thus good governance quality is expected to be particularly effective in curbing opportunistic behavior in Europe.

To focus on a more homogeneous set of companies, financial institutions and utilities' firms were excluded from the sample, as these are subject to specific regulations. Thereafter, for each firm, the press releases of the annual earnings announcements for five fiscal years of 2003 to 2007 were collected and analyzed. This time-frame was used as it covers both periods before and after the mandatory IFRS application in 2005, which enables to investigate the evolution of non-GAAP earnings disclosures in the IFRS era. All press releases were obtained via Factiva or firms' websites (where they can be found either in the Press or in the Investor Relations section). After eliminating

firm-years with missing press releases the final sample comprises 1551 observations representing 319 firms from 21 European countries.

In order to obtain the most accurate and credible information about the incidence of disclosure of non-GAAP financial measures, data within the original press releases was then hand-collected. Most prior studies that examine non-GAAP disclosures have used I/B/E/S (Institutional Brokers' Estimate System) actual earnings, which are non-GAAP figures reported by analysts to proxy for these measures (e.g., Bradshaw and Sloan, 2002; Doyle, Lundholm, and Soliman, 2003). However, it has already been shown that there is a significant difference between I/B/E/S earnings figures and the non-GAAP numbers disclosed by managers in their earnings press releases. For example, Bhattacharya et al. (2003) conclude that non-GAAP earnings numbers are significantly greater¹⁰ than I/B/E/S actual earnings and thus using the latter as a proxy for the former "may be problematic". Furthermore, analyzing the full press releases to gather information on the value and nature of adjustments used by managers to calculate non-GAAP earnings, which provides useful insights into perceiving the underlying motives for non-GAAP disclosure.

Due to the significant variety in the non-GAAP figures disclosed in the press releases, it turned out necessary to categorize them into 14 different types of financial measures (Table 1). It is important to note that only non-GAAP measures that portray a firm's results (i.e., all sorts of earnings numbers) were collected - other aspects of a firm's performance, such as sales, cash measures and financial ratios were ignored. In cases where the label given to the earnings measure was dubious, a conservative approach was adopted and such figures were not classified as non-GAAP financial measures. Additional data, such as whether or not the firms disclose a reconciliation, the value and nature of adjustments made to GAAP numbers and the emphasis given to the first GAAP and non-GAAP earnings measure disclosed in the press release was also hand-collected.

¹⁰ They found a statistically significant mean difference of approximately 4 cents per share between non-GAAP earnings disclosed in press releases and the numbers provided by I/B/E/S.
Table 1. Types of non-GAAP measures

Definition1 - Earnings per share, non-GAAP (diluted or basic)2 - Earnings per share, non-GAAP, from continuing operations (diluted or basic)3 - Earnings per share, non-GAAP, from operations (diluted or basic)4 - Cash earnings per share5 - Cash flow, non-GAAP, per share6 - Non-GAAP net income7 - Non-GAAP income from continuing operations8 - Non-GAAP income from operations/Operational income

- 9 EBITDA (Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization)
- 10 Non-GAAP EBITDA (i.e., EBITDA with adjustments)
- 11 EBIT (Earnings before interest and taxes)
- 12 Non-GAAP EBIT (i.e., EBIT with adjustments)
- 13 Free Cash Flow
- 14 Other non-GAAP cash measures

Table 1: This table lists the fourteen categories of non-GAAP measures found in the earnings press releases.

In order to perform this analysis, data on firm-level corporate governance attributes was also required. In addition, it was desirable that those attributes should be comparable across firms, which was achieved through a governance index. The use of indices (or scores) is common practice in the corporate governance literature (e.g. Gompers et al., 2003; Bebchuk and Cohen, 2005; Khanchel, 2007; Aggarwal et al., 2009). In this study, the data on corporate governance is obtained from Aggarwal et al. (2011). ¹¹ Lastly, financial data is collected from Worldscope/Datastream and analyst earnings forecasts are provided by I/B/E/S.

The empirical analysis is performed using the SPSS 17.0 statistical software package.

¹¹ Governance data used in this analysis is available at <u>http://faculty.msb.edu/aggarwal/</u>.

5. Research design

5.1 Model definition

This research investigates the extent to which corporate governance mechanisms act as deterrents to potentially misleading non-GAAP reporting practices. The first hypothesis posits that good governance quality is negatively associated with the use of non-GAAP earnings measures to meet earnings benchmarks. This association is studied using five different versions of the following logit regression model:

Benchmark_{i,t}

$$= f (\alpha_0 + \alpha_1 Governance Quality_{i,t} + \alpha_2 Control Variables_{i,t} + \varepsilon_i)$$
(1)

All variables are for firm *i* and fiscal year *t* but for ease of reference subscripts *i* and *t* are suppressed throughout the text. The dependent variable *Benchmark* refers to five different earnings benchmark variables each one representing an indicator variable that takes the value of one if the benchmark is achieved with non-GAAP measures when the GAAP earnings fall short of the benchmark, and zero otherwise. *Governance quality* is an index combining 41 governance attributes defined in Aggarwal et al. (2011). *Control variables* are the firm-specific characteristics expected to affect non-GAAP reporting practices. All models include industry and year fixed effects, where industries are defined using the two-digit industry SIC (Standard Industrial Classification) code classification.

The second and third hypotheses assess the effect of governance quality on the magnitude of the difference between non-GAAP earnings and both GAAP measures and analysts' expectations. For this purpose, two different versions of the following ordinary least squares (OLS) regression model are performed:

Adjustments_{i,t}

 $= f(\alpha_0 + \alpha_1 Governance Quality_{i,t} + \alpha_2 Control Variables_{i,t} + \varepsilon_i)$ (2)

All variables are for firm *i* and fiscal year *t* but for ease of reference subscripts *i* and *t* are suppressed throughout the text. In the first version of equation (2), the dependent variable *Adjustments* is *Managers' adjustments*, which represents the adjustments made by managers to GAAP earnings in the calculation of non-GAAP numbers. In the second version, *Adjustments* represents *Managers' incremental adjustments*, defined as the adjustments made by managers to GAAP earnings beyond those made by analysts. *Governance quality* is an index combining 41 governance attributes defined in Aggarwal et al. (2011). *Control variables* are the firm-specific characteristics expected to affect non-GAAP reporting practices. Both regressions include industry, year and country fixed effects, where industries are defined using the two-digit industry SIC (Standard Industrial Classification) code classification.

Each regression is performed for the maximum number of firm-year observations for which all the required data is available. The number of observations included in the regressions ranges from 517 to 616.

5.2 Variable descriptions

This section describes the dependent and independent variables used in all regression analyses. Variable definitions are also summarized in Table 10 (Appendix 2).

5.2.1 Dependent variables

Earnings benchmarks

Following Isidro and Marques (2010), the logit regression model in equation (1) considers five strategic earnings benchmarks: (1) *beating analysts' forecasts* (i.e., non-

GAAP earnings meet or beat analysts' expectations when GAAP earnings fall short of analysts' earnings forecasts); (2) *reporting growth in profits* (i.e., non-GAAP earnings meet or beat previous year's GAAP earnings when GAAP earnings fail to meet previous year's GAAP earnings); (3) *portraying better performance* (i.e., non-GAAP numbers exceed GAAP earnings); (4) *beating industry performance* (i.e., ROE - return on equity - based on non-GAAP earnings meet or beat the median industry ROE when ROE based on GAAP numbers does not meet the industry ROE); and (5) *avoiding losses* (i.e. non-GAAP earnings are positive when GAAP numbers are negative). They find that all these benchmarks are positively associated with the number of non-GAAP earnings measures reported by European firms in their press releases, which suggests that strategic considerations are an important determinant of non-GAAP disclosure decisions in Europe (Isidro and Marques, 2010).

To each benchmark, is assigned an indicator variable taking the value of one if a non-GAAP earnings measure reported in the press release meets or beats the benchmark while the corresponding GAAP number does not, and zero otherwise. For this purpose, when firms disclose more than one non-GAAP earnings figure, the non-GAAP number considered is the first one disclosed in the press release. Bowen et al. (2005) report that managers emphasize the metric that portrays better firm performance. Further, Hitz (2010) and Marques (2010) find that non-GAAP figures are given more prominence when they are higher than a specific earnings benchmark but the GAAP number falls short of this benchmark.

In line with findings of earlier studies, benchmark beating is expected to be negatively associated with firms' governance quality (Bushee, 1998; Peasnell et al., 2005; Frankel et al., 2011).

Non-GAAP adjustments

This empirical analysis focuses on two types of non-GAAP adjustments that are potentially associated with discretionary reporting: those that are made to exceed GAAP earnings and those that are made to meet or beat analysts' forecasts. Therefore, the OLS model in equation (2) involves two dependent variables, examined in separate analyses.

Managers' adjustments represents the total value of the adjustments made by managers to GAAP earnings in the calculation of non-GAAP numbers. It is measured as the first non-GAAP number reported in the annual earnings press release minus the corresponding GAAP disclosed in the financial reports scaled by stock price at the end of the previous year. *Managers' incremental adjustments* represents the adjustments made by managers to GAAP earnings beyond those made by analysts. It is calculated as the first non-GAAP number reported in the annual earnings press release minus the analysts' median forecast of earnings scaled by stock price at the end of the previous year.

Given that higher levels of adjustments have a greater potential to mislead investors (Doyle et al., 2003; Entwistle et al., 2006b), firms' governance quality is expected to reduce the magnitude of both types of exclusions.

5.2.2 Independent variables

Governance Quality

Governance quality is an index combining 41 governance attributes defined in Aggarwal et al. (2011). For each company, an index is created using data obtained from RiskMetrics (formerly Institutional Shareholder Services). RiskMetrics determines how a firm fares for each attribute by examining the firm's regulatory filings, annual reports, and the companies' websites. The firm is considered to have an attribute if it meets a minimally acceptable threshold set out by RiskMetrics.

The 41 governance attributes included in the index cover four broad subcategories (as detailed in Table 9 of Appendix 1): Board (24 attributes), Audit (3 attributes), Anti-takeover provisions (6 attributes), and Compensation and Ownership (8 attributes). The index is expressed as a percentage: it assigns the value of one to a governance attribute if the company meets minimally acceptable standards on that attribute, and zero otherwise. For example, if a company satisfies all 41 governance attributes, then its index will be equal to 100%. In case that an attribute is missing, the attribute is excluded and the value of the index is represented by the percentage of non-missing attributes that the firm satisfies.

In order to preserve the maximum amount of information for statistical analysis, when the value of the index is missing for a certain firm-year, the variable *Governance quality* assumes the index value of the subsequent firm-year as a proxy. This is consistent with the view that corporate governance structures are "usually rigid and do not vary much over time" (Sautner and Weber, 2007).

Control Variables

This study also considers other firm specific characteristics that have been found in the literature to affect non-GAAP reporting choices. The firm-level variables are as follows. *Intangibles* represents the business intangible intensity and is measured as the value of intangible assets, scaled by total assets. *Firm size* aims at controlling for size effects and is defined as the log of market capitalization. *Special items* is an indicator variable coded as one if the firm reports special or extraordinary items or discontinuing operations and zero otherwise. In line with findings of earlier research (Lougee and Marquardt, 2004; Marques, 2006; Isidro and Marques, 2010), all these incentives are expected to be positively associated with opportunistic non-GAAP reporting practices and thus a positive coefficient is expected for these variables in each of the regressions.

Leverage is the ratio of debt to total assets. Peasnell et al. (2005) suggest that high leverage firms are more likely to engage in earnings management in order to delay or avoid costs associated with debt covenant violation. Consequently, a positive coefficient is expected for this variable in all the regressions, indicating that firms with high leverage are more likely to strategically use non-GAAP numbers to beat earnings benchmarks.

With regard to the potential users of non-GAAP disclosures, two variables are included in the analysis. *Insider ownership* is measured by the percentage of the firm's shares owned by insider investors.¹² Eng and Mak (2003) suggest that a strong presence of insiders reduces incentives to disclose voluntary information. Also, Isidro and Marques (2011) find that a higher level of insider ownership helps constrain opportunistic behavior. Therefore, this variable is expected to be negatively associated with all the

¹² Insider ownership considers shares held by officers, directors and their immediate families, shares held in trust, shares held by another corporation (except shares held in a fiduciary capacity by banks or other financial institutions), shares held by pension/benefit plans, or by individuals who hold 5% or more of the outstanding shares.

dependent variables. *Analyst coverage* is the log of the number of earnings estimates made by financial analysts. On the one hand, greater analyst coverage may act as a deterrent to aggressive non-GAAP reporting, to the extent that it leads to more scrutiny of managers' actions. On the other hand, firms with more analyst attention may face more incentives to use non-GAAP figures as a way to meet or beat analysts' expectations (Isidro and Marques, 2010). Thus, no directional predictions are made for this variable.

High-growth firms with external financing needs are more likely to provide voluntary disclosure as a way to reduce information asymmetries, thereby obtaining funds at a lower cost of capital (Healy and Palepu, 2001; Francis et al., 2005). In addition to this, Isidro and Marques (2010) find that a higher level of voluntary non-GAAP disclosure is associated with benchmark-meeting strategies. Consequently, firms' external financing needs are expected to positively impact the decision to use non-GAAP information in a way that appears to clear earnings targets. Following prior literature (Demirguc-Kunt and Maksimovic, 1998; Isidro and Marques, 2010), *financing needs* is calculated as the difference between the required investment to grow (i.e. two-year average growth in total assets) and the proportion of the firm's earnings that are reinvested (i.e. two-year average ROE/[1-ROE]).

Regarding the effect of the adoption of IFRS on non-GAAP reporting decisions, an indicator variable – IFRS – coded one if the firm reports under IFRS and zero otherwise is also included in the regression analyses. Barth et al. (2008) find that firms applying IFRS are less likely to manage earnings towards a target and more likely to recognize losses in a timely fashion, which denotes that the adoption of the new accounting standards may limit discretionary reporting choices. However, there is also evidence that accounting standards play only a limited role in determining financial reporting quality (Daske et al., 2008). Given these different views, no directional predictions are made for this variable.

Finally, foreign firms listed in the U.S. are subject to comparatively strict supervision and regulation regarding non-GAAP reporting (i.e., Regulation G). Several studies find that subsequent to the SEC interventions firms report non-GAAP numbers in a much less potentially misleading manner (e.g. Bowen et al, 2005; Entwistle et al., 2006b). Thus, cross-listing in the U.S. is expected to be negatively associated with benchmark beating strategies and to reduce the level of manager-generated non-GAAP adjustments. The influence of cross-listing in the analysis is controlled by including an indicator variable (*Listing US*) that equals one if the firm is cross-listed in a U.S. market and zero otherwise.

6. Descriptive evidence

Table 2 provides summary statistics on non-GAAP financial measures reported by all the sample firms. Panel A reveals that the practice of voluntarily disclosing non-GAAP measures is widespread in European firms. In fact, 71% of the observations include at least one non-GAAP figure in their press releases. Accordingly, Panel B indicates that, except for "other services", in all other industries the majority of the firms disclose non-GAAP numbers. In particular, this practice is more common in manufacturing, entertainment and business services, and real estate.

Previous research has established that investors' perception of firms' performance is influenced by the strategic emphasis given to non-GAAP measures (Elliott 2006; Allee et al. 2007). Therefore, Panel C of Table 2 focuses on the first non-GAAP measure disclosed by managers in their annual earnings announcement press releases. In more than half of the observations, the measure presented with more prominence is either non-GAAP income from operations (19,7%) or non-GAAP net income (19,4%) or EBITDA (18,8%). Moreover, it is noteworthy to point out that, consistent with findings of Isidro and Marques (2008), both EBIT and EBITDA are reported with high emphasis. In that paper, they explain that these "may be caused by European managers not being aware that these are non-GAAP financial measures", while in the US this question is clarified.

Using only the observations where at least one non-GAAP measure is reported (which are 1104), Panel D of Table 1 shows that the average number of non-GAAP measures disclosed per press release is 2,75. Moreover, it is also noteworthy to point out that there is a slightly decrease in the number of firms disclosing non-GAAP measures in the

period after 2005 (Panel D), which coincides with the year of IFRS adoption. This evidence suggests that the implementation of IFRS may have reduced the use of non-GAAP information and improved the reporting quality in Europe.

Panel A: Frequency of non-GAAP disclosures	,	
	Firm-years	% of firm-years
Reporting at least one non-GAAP measure	1104	71,2%
Not reporting	447	28,8%
Total	1551	100%
Panel B: Frequency of non-GAAP disclosures	, by industry	
Industry:	% of disclosing firm-years	
Agriculture and mining		70,6%
Manufacturing		78,2%
Materials and electronics		62,9%
Transportation and communication		69,8%
Wholesale trade		72,4%
Real estate	75,9%	
Entertainment and business services		76,5%
Other services		33,3%
Panel C: Frequency of type of non-GAAP mea	sures reported w	vith higher emphasis
Non-GAAP measure:	Disclosi	ng % of disclosing
Non-OAAI meusure.	firm-yea	ars firm-years
Non-GAAP income from operations	218	19,7%
Non-GAAP net income	214	19,4%
EBITDA	208	18,8%
Non-GAAP EBITDA	137	12,4%
EBIT	100	9,1%
Free Cash Flow	85	7,7%
Earnings per share	58	5,3%
Non-GAAP EBIT	36	3,3%
Non-GAAP income from continuing operation	ns 30	2,7%
Other non-GAAP cash measures	15	1,4%
Cash flow, per share	2	0,2%
EPS from continuing operations	1	0,1%
Total	1104	100%

Table 2. Frequency of non-GAAP reporting

Year:	Disclosing firm-years	Average number of non-GAAP measures reported per press release
2003	206	2.8
2004	232	2.8
2005	224	2.7
2006	221	2.7
2007	221	2.9
All years	1104	2,75

Table 2 (cont.)

Table 2: This table presents the frequency of non-GAAP disclosures (Panel A) and the percentage of firm-years reporting non-GAAP measures, by industry (Panel B), for all the sample firms. For the sample of firms reporting at least one non-GAAP measure, Panel C presents the frequency of type of non-GAAP measures reported with higher emphasis and Panel D shows, by year, the number of firm-years reporting non-GAAP measures and the average number of non-GAAP measures reported. The sample consists of 1551 observations representing 319 firms included in the *Financial Times* 2006 classification of the 500 largest European firms for fiscal years of 2003 to 2007.

As expected, in the majority of the cases (approximately 77%), managers report non-GAAP numbers greater than GAAP figures (Table 3). This result is in line with previous studies which indicate that firms tend to adjust their GAAP figures mainly by excluding expenses in order to portray an overly optimistic performance. In an extreme case - of which Enron is a prime example - income-increasing adjustments can result in the disclosure of a positive non-GAAP figure that in fact corresponds to a GAAP loss.

This practice suggests an opportunistic attempt to mislead investors as it leads them to overestimate the value of the firm. Bhattacharya et al. (2007) find that less sophisticated investors, in particular, are more likely to be manipulated by opportunistic disclosures conveyed through companies' press releases.

Number of firm-years:	Firm-years	% of firm-years
With managers' adjustments > 0 (Non-GAAP earnings > GAAP earnings)	588	77,1%
With managers' adjustments ≤ 0 (Non-GAAP earnings \leq GAAP earnings)	175	22,9%
Total	763	100%

Table 3. Total adjustments made by managers to GAAP earnings

Table 3: This table shows the number of positive and negative adjustments made by managers to GAAP earnings in the calculation of non-GAAP numbers, for the maximum number of observations (N = 763) for which data was available and for fiscal years 2003-2007. *Managers' adjustments* is calculated as the first non-GAAP number reported in the annual earnings press release minus the corresponding GAAP disclosed in the financial reports scaled by stock price at the end of the previous year.

Table 4 shows that the proportion of firms reporting non-GAAP figures that exceed analysts' forecasts (92,6%) is distinctly higher than the percentage of companies whose non-GAAP earnings fall below analysts' expectations (7,4%). This evidence suggests that, when calculating non-GAAP earnings, managers clearly exclude more expenses or losses than analysts exclude from their forecasts.

Prior evidence (Doyle et al., 2003; Lougee and Marquardt, 2004; Christensen, 2007; Doyle et al., 2010) contends that managers' incremental adjustments (i.e., earnings exclusions on which managers and analysts disagree) are most likely associated with opportunistic behavior. In line with this literature, these results seem to indicate that managers widely engage in the practice of excluding enough expenses to allow them to strategically exceed the consensus analyst forecast benchmark. However, although this descriptive evidence seems to denote that managers' incremental adjustments usually reflect opportunistic motives, it is also likely that many managers exclude these items to depict a clearer picture of core earnings, thereby conveying value-relevant information to the market.

Number of firm-years:	Firm-years	% of firm-years
With managers' incremental adjustments > 0 (Non-GAAP earnings > Analysts' forecasts)	652	92,6%
With managers' incremental adjustments ≤ 0 (Non-GAAP earnings \leq Analysts' forecasts)	52	7,4%
Total	704	100%

Table 4. Adjustments made by managers to beat analysts' forecasts

Table 4: This table presents the number of positive and negative adjustments made by managers to GAAP earnings beyond those made by analysts, for the maximum number of observations (n = 704) for which data was available and for fiscal years 2003-2007. *Managers' incremental adjustments* is calculated as the first non-GAAP number reported in the annual earnings press release minus the analysts' median forecast of earnings scaled by stock price at the end of the previous year.

For the maximum number of observations used in the statistical analysis, Panel A of Table 5 reports descriptive statistics for non-discrete variables. The first two rows reveal that the mean non-GAAP earnings per share is 0,05 higher than the mean GAAP earnings per share, while the mean per-share difference between non-GAAP earnings and analysts' expectations is 0,09. The average sample firm is followed by approximately 11 analysts, has market capitalization around 14,377 million Euros and a debt to assets ratio of 26%; also, 22% of its assets are intangibles. Insider investors hold 27% of firms' shares.

On average, the firms meet the minimum acceptable criteria for 46% of the 41 governance attributes considered (i.e., about 19 of the 41 attributes). This evidence suggests that European firms have poorer internal governance quality than firms in the U.S., where the average governance level is high at approximately 59% (Aggarwal et al., 2011). This is consistent with the recognition of U.S. as a country with a high level of financial and economic development and with a regulatory framework that provides strong investor protection. Nevertheless, Figure 1 (Appendix 3) illustrates a substantial improvement in the corporate governance structure of European companies over the sample period (the average governance index increases from 44% in 2003 to 48,8% in 2007). This evidence denotes a growing awareness of the benefits of governance quality among managers of European firms as well as indicates that European Commission's efforts have apparently been successful.

Panel A: Descriptive statistics for non-o	liscrete variabl	es				
Variable	Firm-years	Mean	Std. Deviation	Minimum	Median	Maximum
Managers' adjustments	616	0,05	0,16	-1,55	0,03	1,36
Managers' incremental adjustments	593	0,09	0,11	-0,28	0,06	1,31
Governance quality	616	0,46	0,09	0,24	0,46	0,66
Intangibles	616	0,22	0,18	0,00	0,17	0,82
Market Capitalization (mEur)	616	14.377,2	22.420,0	624,4	6.695,6	168.303,9
Leverage	616	0,26	0,16	0,00	0,25	1,25
Insider ownership	616	27,07	22,90	0,00	22,52	98,50
Number of analyst following	616	11,76	8,58	1,00	11,00	40,00
Financing needs	616	-0,13	4,19	-97,20	-0,12	26,70
Panel B: Frequencies for discrete varia	bles					-
			Percent	age (%) of:		
Variable	Firn	n-years	0	1		
Analysts' forecasts (Benchmark 1)	:	593	71,5%	28,5%	6	
Growth in profits (Benchmark 2)	(516	80,7%	19,3%	6	
Better performance (Benchmark 3)		516	11,5%	88,5%	0	
Industry performance (Benchmark 4)		516	75,8%	24,2%	6	
Avoid losses (Benchmark 5)	(516	95,8%	4,2%	•	
IFRS	(516	48,2%	51,8%	6	
Listing US		516	72,4%	27,6%	6	
Special items		516	13,6%	86,4%	6	

Table 5. Descriptive statistics

THE EFFECT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE QUALITY ON THE STRATEGIC USE OF NON-GAAP DISCLOSURES TO BEAT EARNINGS BENCHMARKS

Table 5 (cont.): This table presents the number of firm-year observations, mean, standard deviation, minimum, median and maximum for non-discrete variables (Panel A) and frequencies for discrete variables (Panel B), for the maximum number of observations used in regression analyses (616) and for fiscal years 2003-2007. Variables' definitions are as follows. Governance quality is the percentage of the 41 governance attributes (as described in Table 9 of Appendix 1) that a firm satisfies. For instance, an index of 100% means that a company meets all 41 governance attributes. Intangibles is the ratio of intangible assets to total assets. Market capitalization is the firm's market value. Leverage is the ratio of debt to total assets. Insider ownership represents the percentage of the firm's shares owned by insider investors. *Number of analyst following* is the number of analysts following the firm. *Financing needs* is calculated as the difference between the required investment to grow (i.e. two-year average growth in total assets) and the proportion of the firm's earnings that are reinvested (i.e. two-year average ROE/[1-ROE]). Managers' adjustments is calculated as the first non-GAAP number reported in the annual earnings press release minus the corresponding GAAP disclosed in the financial reports scaled by stock price at the end of the previous year. Managers' incremental adjustments is calculated as the first non-GAAP number reported in the annual earnings press release minus the analysts' median forecast of earnings scaled by stock price at the end of the previous year. *IFRS* is an indicator variable coded one if the firm reports under IFRS and zero otherwise. Listing US is an indicator variable that equals one if the firm is crosslisted in a U.S. market and zero otherwise. Special items is an indicator variable that takes the value of one if the firm reports special or extraordinary items or discontinuing operations and zero otherwise. Analysts' forecasts (Benchmark 1) is an indicator variable coded one if non-GAAP earnings meet or beat analysts' expectations when GAAP earnings fall short of analysts' earnings forecasts, and zero otherwise. Growth in profits (Benchmark 2) is an indicator variable that equals one if non-GAAP earnings meet or beat previous year's GAAP earnings when GAAP earnings fail to meet previous year's GAAP earnings, and zero otherwise. Better performance (Benchmark 3) is an indicator variable coded one if non-GAAP numbers exceed GAAP earnings, and zero otherwise. Industry performance (Benchmark 4) is an indicator variable that takes the value of one if ROE (return on equity) based on non-GAAP earnings meet or beat the median industry ROE when ROE based on GAAP numbers does not meet the industry ROE, and zero otherwise. Avoid losses (Benchmark 5) is an indicator variable that equals one if non-GAAP earnings are positive when GAAP numbers are negative, and zero otherwise.

Panel B of Table 5 provides frequencies for the discrete variables. The first five rows measure whether non-GAAP numbers allow firms to achieve earnings targets that otherwise would have been missed by GAAP figures.

Looking at the frequencies reported one may infer that reporting better performance (*Benchmark 3*) and meeting analysts' forecasts (*Benchmark 5*) appear to be the two most important benchmarks managers seek to achieve using non-GAAP information. Indeed, in 88,5% of the cases, non-GAAP measures exceed GAAP earnings and in 28,5% of the observations, non-GAAP measures meet or beat analysts' expectations when GAAP earnings fall below analysts' forecasts. In accordance with this evidence, Isidro and Marques (2010) find that these two benchmarks have the strongest influence on the number of non-GAAP measures managers decide to disclose. However, they point out that most of the adjustments made to GAAP earnings are income-increasing

(as explained above, in Table 3), which makes *Benchmark 3* very easy to reach. This descriptive evidence is also consistent with a great number of studies (e.g. Graham et al., 2004; Brown and Caylor, 2005) suggesting that, in more recent years, meeting analysts' expectations is becoming the more important threshold. In contrast, disclosing positive non-GAAP earnings to avoid report a GAAP loss seems to be the less prevalent benchmark beating strategy in Europe (only happens in 4,2% of the observations).

Most of the sample firms report special and extraordinary items (86,4%) and are not listed in the U.S. financial market (72,4%). In approximately half of the cases (51,8%) firms report financial information based on IFRS.

7. Empirical results

7.1 Governance quality and earnings benchmark beating

Table 6 presents the empirical results of the analysis of the association between governance quality and the use of non-GAAP numbers to achieve strategic earnings benchmarks. Given that this analysis is performed using five different versions of a logit model, the table is divided into five panels, each one corresponding to a specific earnings benchmark. At first glance, since governance quality is negatively associated with all five earnings benchmarks, one may infer that efficient governance mechanisms are capable of curtailing the opportunistic use of non-GAAP metrics to achieve earnings thresholds, which supports hypothesis 1. However, good governance practices do not have similar influence on all benchmark beating strategies, since not all the estimated coefficients are statistically significant at the 10% level.

In fact, estimated coefficients for governance quality are negative and statistically significant for three of the five benchmark beating strategies. Good corporate governance reduces the use of non-GAAP measures to show growth in profits (z-statistic = -3,298; p-value < 0,001), report better performance (z-statistic = -2,300; p-value = 0,021) and to meet industry-peers level of earnings (z-statistic = -1,880; p-value = 0,06), as reported in Panels B, C and D, respectively.

Nonetheless, good governance practices do not seem to be effective at restraining the use of alternative earnings measures to exceed the analyst forecast benchmark (Panel A). This evidence is not in line with the results of Frankel et al. (2011), since they find

that board independence limits the opportunistic behavior associated with using non-GAAP earnings to meet the analyst forecast. Yet, it is in line with descriptive evidence, which indicates that meeting analysts' forecasts is one of the most important benchmarks managers seek to achieve. This may explain why even good governance attributes are unable to counteract this practice. The great importance given by managers to this threshold is likely due to the fact that since the mid-nineties (but not before then) investors reward firms more for reporting earnings that meet analysts' estimates than for meeting other benchmarks (Brown and Caylor, 2005).

Also, there is no consistent evidence that governance quality mitigate the discretionary disclosure of non-GAAP measures that avoid reporting a loss (Panel E). This evidence indicates that the practice of reporting positive non-GAAP earnings when GAAP earnings are negative seems to prevail even when firms adopt better governance attributes. Although descriptive evidence provides indications that this benchmark beating strategy is the less prevalent among European firms, this result is consistent with the earnings threshold hierarchy provided by Degeorge et al. (1999). In this study, the authors infer that reporting positive profits is the most important target (i.e. takes the first place in hierarchy) and thus it provides strong incentives for strategic managerial discretion.

The results for the other firm specific characteristics are in line with previous academic findings. The propensity to achieve strategic earnings benchmarks using non-GAAP information is positively influenced by intangible intensity (*Intangibles*). In a general way, a strong presence of insider investors constrains the opportunistic use of voluntary disclosures to hit earnings targets (although estimated coefficients are statistically significant only for two of the earnings benchmarks, as displayed in Panels A and B). On the other hand, greater analyst coverage is positively related to almost all the benchmark beating strategies considered (yet estimated coefficients are statistically significant only for two of the benchmarks, as reported in Panels B and C). Lastly, firms' external financing needs impact positively in all the five benchmark-specific models, in line with previous findings that firms with financing needs are more likely to provide a higher level of voluntary non-GAAP information which, in turn, is associated with a higher propensity to meet earnings benchmarks (Isidro and Marques, 2010). In contrast to what was expected, cross-listing in the U.S. (where firms are subject to

stringent non-GAAP regulation) does not always have a negative effect on the propensity to engage in strategic benchmark-beating strategies.

With respect to the adoption of IFRS, the results are mixed. Estimated coefficients are positive for three of the five benchmarks (Panels B, C and D), indicating that IFRS standards seem to boost the strategic use of alternative measures to meet earnings thresholds. This evidence is consistent with the findings of Ernst & Young (2006), which suggest that "companies do not seem confident that IFRS financial information is sufficient" to communicate their performance to the market. Nevertheless, the implementation of the new accounting standards is effective at restraining non-GAAP disclosures that appear to meet or beat consensus analyst forecast (Panel A), which is one of the most important benchmarks managers seek to attain.

Concerning the quality of the regression model, two goodness-of-fit measures are considered. Table 6 shows that the Nagelkerke pseudo R-squared ranges from 8% (Panel D) to 22,2% (Panel A). In addition, the percent of cases correctly predicted by the model ranges from 72,2% to 95,5% across the different benchmarks. Untabulated results show that in all the five different versions of the logistic regression model, this percentage has increased from the null model to the full model, which suggests that the model is a good fit.

Variable	Coefficient	t z-value p-valu	
Panel A: Analysts' fored	casts (Benchmark 1)		_
(Constant)	-0,596	-0,426	0,670
Governance quality	-2,062	-1,426	0,154
Intangibles	3,028***	4,195	0,000
Special items	0,559	1,636	0,102
Firm size	0,229	1,616	0,107
Leverage	-0,328	-0,420	0,675
Listing US	0,215	0,819	0,413
IFRS	-1,111***	-3,140	0,002
Insider ownership	-0,022***	-3,789	0,000
Analyst coverage	0,049	2,723	0,007
Financing needs	0,137	1,310	0,191
Industry fixed effects	YES		
Year fixed effects	YES		
No. observations	517		
Nagelkerke R ²	22,20%		
Chi-square	$86,465 \text{ (p-value } \le 0,01\text{)}$		
% correctly predicted	77,6%		
Panel B: Growth in proj	fits (Benchmark 2)		
(Constant)	-0,095	-0,062	0,950
Governance quality	-5,159***	-3,298	0,001
Intangibles	-0,644	-0,840	0,401
Special items	0,026	0,074	0,941
Firm size	0,179	1,138	0,255
Leverage	-0,460	-0,573	0,567
Listing US	-0,469	-1,583	0,113
IFRS	0,246	0,683	0,495
Insider ownership	-0,020***	-3,222	0,001
Analyst coverage	0,063***	3,199	0,001
Financing needs	0,155*	1,745	0,081
Industry fixed effects	YES		
Year fixed effects	YES		
No. observations	535		
Nagelkerke R ²	14,20%		
Chi-square	$49,652 (p-value \le 0,01)$		
% correctly predicted	81,3%		

Table 6. The effect of governance quality on the use of non-GAAP disclosures to beat strategic earnings benchmarks

Variable	Coefficient	z-value	p-value
Panel C: Better perform	ance (Benchmark 3)		
(Constant)	3,638	2,209	0,027
Governance quality	-3,983**	-2,300	0,021
Intangibles	1,212	1,275	0,202
Special items	-0,468	-1,111	0,267
Firm size	0,156	0,925	0,355
Leverage	1,812*	1,695	0,090
Listing US	-0,900***	-3,078	0,002
IFRS	0,630*	1,681	0,093
Insider ownership	-0,007	-1,001	0,317
Analyst coverage	0,056***	2,926	0,003
Financing needs	0,071	0,480	0,632
Industry fixed effects	YES		
Year fixed effects	YES		
No. observations	535		
Nagelkerke R ²	18,30%		
Chi-square	59,832 (p-value \leq 0,01)		
% correctly predicted	83,9%		
Panel D: Industry perfo	rmance (Benchmark 4)		
(Constant)	0,010	0,007	0,994
Governance quality	-2,707*	-1,880	0,060
Intangibles	0,083	0,118	0,906
Special items	0,110	0,332	0,740
Firm size	-0,064	-0,450	0,653
Leverage	0,169	0,253	0,800
Listing US	-0,222	-0,834	0,404
IFRS	0,608*	1,918	0,055
Insider ownership	0,000	0,017	0,986
Analyst coverage	0,010	0,593	0,553
Financing needs	0,049	0,493	0,622
Industry fixed effects	YES		
Year fixed effects	YES		
No. observations	535		
Nagelkerke R ²	8,00%		
Chi-square	29,186 (p-value = 0,063)		
% correctly predicted	77,2%		

Table 6 (cont.)

Variable	Coefficient	z-value	p-value
Panel E: Avoid losses (E	Benchmark 5)		
(Constant)	-3,238	-1,032	0,302
Governance quality	-2,195	-0,713	0,476
Intangibles	4,239***	2,764	0,006
Special items	1,171	1,087	0,277
Firm size	-0,103	-0,344	0,731
Leverage	0,391	0,281	0,779
Listing US	0,283	0,535	0,592
IFRS	-1,008	-1,362	0,173
Insider ownership	-0,007	-0,603	0,546
Analyst coverage	-0,002	-0,068	0,946
Financing needs	0,114	0,966	0,334
Industry fixed effects	YES		
Year fixed effects	YES		
No. observations	535		
Nagelkerke R ²	18,30%		
Chi-square	30,897 (p-value = 0,041)		
% correctly predicted	95,5%		

Table 6 (cont.)

Table 6: This table reports the estimation results from logistic regression model where the dependent variable is Benchmark, for the maximum number of observations for which data was available. Variables' definitions are as follows. Benchmark refers to the following five earnings benchmark variables. *Analysts' forecasts (Benchmark 1)* is an indicator variable coded one if non-GAAP earnings meet or beat analysts' expectations when GAAP earnings fall short of analysts' earnings forecasts, and zero otherwise (Panel A). Growth in profits (Benchmark 2) is an indicator variable that equals one if non-GAAP earnings meet or beat previous year's GAAP earnings when GAAP earnings fail to meet previous year's GAAP earnings, and zero otherwise (Panel B). Better performance (Benchmark 3) is an indicator variable coded one if non-GAAP numbers exceed GAAP earnings, and zero otherwise (Panel C). Industry performance (Benchmark 4) is an indicator variable that takes the value of one if ROE (return on equity) based on non-GAAP earnings meet or beat the median industry ROE when ROE based on GAAP numbers does not meet the industry ROE, and zero otherwise (Panel D). Avoid losses (Benchmark 5) is an indicator variable that equals one if non-GAAP earnings are positive when GAAP numbers are negative, and zero otherwise (Panel E). Governance quality is the percentage of the 41 governance attributes (as described in Table 9 of Appendix 1) that a firm satisfies. For instance, an index of 100% means that a company meets all 41 governance attributes. Intangibles is the ratio of intangible assets to total assets. Special items is an indicator variable that takes the value of one if the firm reports special or extraordinary items or discontinuing operations and zero otherwise. *Firm size* is the log of market capitalization. Leverage is the ratio of debt to total assets. Listing US is an indicator variable that equals one if the firm is cross-listed in a U.S. market and zero otherwise. IFRS is an indicator variable coded one if the firm reports under IFRS and zero otherwise. Insider ownership represents the percentage of the firm's shares owned by insider investors. Analyst coverage is the log of the number of earnings estimates made by financial analysts. Financing needs is calculated as the difference between the required investment to grow (i.e. two-year average growth in total assets) and the proportion of the firm's earnings that are reinvested (i.e. two-year average ROE/[1-ROE]). The symbols ***, **, * indicate statistical significance at 1%, 5% and 10% levels, respectively.

7.2 Governance quality and the magnitude of non-GAAP adjustments

The next set of empirical tests analyzes the effect of governance quality on the magnitude of the difference between non-GAAP earnings and both GAAP measures (section 7.2.1) and analysts' expectations (section 7.2.2).

7.2.1 Total non-GAAP adjustments made by managers

Hypothesis 2 states that the difference between non-GAAP and GAAP earnings is higher (lower) for firms with weaker (better) governance quality. Estimation results presented in Table 7 indicate that good governance quality has a negative and significant effect on the per-share difference between non-GAAP and GAAP measures (t-statistic = -3,225; p-value < 0,001). That is, the value of the adjustments made by managers is lower when the firm follows more desirable corporate governance standards, which supports hypothesis 2.

As a robustness check, the empirical analysis was repeated for the subsample of observations with income-increasing adjustments, as prior literature has identified these types of exclusions as being the most potentially misleading. The results are weaker but in line with the findings presented in Table 7.

The gap between non-GAAP and GAAP earnings figures was already found to be sharply reduced by the introduction of non-GAAP regulation, in the U.S. context (Entwistle et al., 2006b). Thus, these findings add to the results of Entwistle et al. (2006b) by suggesting that in a virtually unregulated setting, such as the European markets, good governance quality seems to be the feature capable of reducing the discretionary behavior associated with higher levels of exclusions.

As predicted, the magnitude of the difference between non-GAAP and GAAP measures is positive and significantly correlated with the existence of special items, consistent with the belief that firms frequently exclude these items to increase their non-GAAP earnings. Managers' adjustments to GAAP earnings are also positively associated with the leverage ratio, indicating that high leverage firms report higher non-GAAP earnings as a way to comply with loan covenants.

Variable	Coefficient	t-value	p-value
(Constant)	0,349	1,679	0,094
Governance quality	-0,333***	-3,225	0,001
Intangibles	0,013	0,319	0,750
Special items	0,066***	3,416	0,001
Firm size	-0,009	-1,193	0,233
Leverage	0,078*	1,665	0,097
Listing US	-0,011	-0,691	0,490
IFRS	0,019	0,907	0,365
Insider ownership	0,000	-0,310	0,757
Analyst coverage	0,000	0,406	0,685
Financing needs	0,000	-0,278	0,781
Industry fixed effects	YES		
Year fixed effects	YES		
Country fixed effects	YES		
No. observations	616		
Adjusted R ²	16,90%		
F	$3,281 \text{ (p-value } \le 0,01\text{)}$		

Table 7. The effect of governance quality on the level of non-GAAP adjustments made

 by managers

Table 7: This table reports estimation results from a linear regression model where the dependent variable is *managers' adjustments*, for the maximum number of observations (N = 616) for which data was available. Variables' definitions are as follows. *Managers' adjustments* is calculated as the first non-GAAP number reported in the annual earnings press release minus the corresponding GAAP disclosed in the financial reports scaled by stock price at the end of the previous year. Governance quality is the percentage of the 41 governance attributes (as described in Table 9 of Appendix 1) that a firm satisfies. For instance, an index of 100% means that a company meets all 41 governance attributes. Intangibles is the ratio of intangible assets to total assets. Special items is an indicator variable that takes the value of one if the firm reports special or extraordinary items or discontinuing operations and zero otherwise. Firm size is the log of market capitalization. Leverage is the ratio of debt to total assets. Listing US is an indicator variable that equals one if the firm is cross-listed in a U.S. market and zero otherwise. IFRS is an indicator variable coded one if the firm reports under IFRS and zero otherwise. Insider ownership represents the percentage of the firm's shares owned by insider investors. Analyst coverage is the log of the number of earnings estimates made by financial analysts. Financing needs is calculated as the difference between the required investment to grow (i.e. two-year average growth in total assets) and the proportion of the firm's earnings that are reinvested (i.e. two-year average ROE/[1-ROE]). The symbols ***, **, * indicate statistical significance at 1%, 5% and 10% levels, respectively.

7.2.2 Non-GAAP adjustments made by managers to exceed analysts' forecasts

The last hypothesis concerns whether governance quality is associated with the magnitude of the adjustments made by managers to GAAP earnings beyond those made by analysts. Consistent with hypothesis 3, Table 8 shows that the estimated coefficient for the governance index is negative and statistically significant (t-statistic = -2,041; p-value = 0,042). Hence, although good governance practices do not seem to be effective at mitigating the use of non-GAAP measures to exceed the analyst forecast benchmark (as reported in Panel A of Table 6), they are capable of reducing the pershare difference between non-GAAP earnings and analysts' forecasts.

As a robustness check, empirical analysis was repeated for the subsample of observations that report non-GAAP earnings higher than analysts' expectations, since prior literature has found that incremental manager exclusions (beyond those made by analysts) are more likely to be opportunistic. The results and conclusions do not change.

These findings add to the results of Frankel et al. (2006) – who document that board independence reduces the exclusions that allow non-GAAP earnings to beat analyst forecasts – by extending this conclusion to other corporate governance mechanisms.

Apart of governance quality, managers' incremental adjustments are positively associated with the leverage ratio, the existence of special items, firm size and analyst coverage. In contrast to what was expected, the presence of insiders seems to boost rather than limit this discretionary reporting practice. Lastly, firms cross-listed in the U.S. tend to report non-GAAP earnings that are closer to analysts' expectations.

Variable	Coefficient	t-value	p-value
(Constant)	-0,033	-0,230	0,818
Governance quality	-0,151**	-2,041	0,042
Intangibles	-0,019	-0,631	0,528
Special items	0,026*	1,856	0,064
Firm size	0,011**	2,162	0,031
Leverage	0,129***	3,781	0,000
Listing US	-0,024**	-2,136	0,033
IFRS	0,013	0,918	0,359
Insider ownership	0,001**	2,177	0,030
Analyst coverage	0,002***	3,677	0,000
Financing needs	0,000	-0,168	0,867
Industry fixed effects	YES		
Year fixed effects	YES		
Country fixed effects	YES		
No. observations	593		
Adjusted R ²	17,40%		
F	$3,260 \text{ (p-value } \le 0,01\text{)}$		

Table 8. The effect of governance quality on the level of non-GAAP adjustments made

 by managers to exceed analysts' forecasts

Table 8: This table reports estimation results from a linear regression model where the dependent variable is *managers' incremental adjustments*, for the maximum number of observations (N = 593) for which data was available. Variables' definitions are as follows. Managers' incremental adjustments is calculated as the first non-GAAP number reported in the annual earnings press release minus the analysts' median forecast of earnings scaled by stock price at the end of the previous year. Governance quality is the percentage of the 41 governance attributes (as described in Table 9 of Appendix 1) that a firm satisfies. For instance, an index of 100% means that a company meets all 41 governance attributes. Intangibles is the ratio of intangible assets to total assets. Special items is an indicator variable that takes the value of one if the firm reports special or extraordinary items or discontinuing operations and zero otherwise. *Firm size* is the log of market capitalization. *Leverage* is the ratio of debt to total assets. Listing US is an indicator variable that equals one if the firm is cross-listed in a U.S. market and zero otherwise. IFRS is an indicator variable coded one if the firm reports under IFRS and zero otherwise. Insider ownership represents the percentage of the firm's shares owned by insider investors Analyst coverage is the log of the number of earnings estimates made by financial analysts. Financing needs is calculated as the difference between the required investment to grow (i.e. two-year average growth in total assets) and the proportion of the firm's earnings that are reinvested (i.e. two-year average ROE/[1-ROE]). The symbols ***, **, * indicate statistical significance at 1%, 5% and 10% levels, respectively.

7.3 Regression Assumptions

This section presents the methods used to check whether the assumptions underlying the regression analyses are fulfilled by the data used in this empirical study, in order to ensure that regression models are valid.

7.3.1 Linear regression model

Firstly, in a linear regression model, the relationship between the dependent variable and the predictors must be linear. By plotting standardized predicted values against standardized residuals, Figures 2 and 3 (Appendix 4) produce a random scatter of points, which satisfies the first assumption of linearity for both versions of equation 2, where dependent variable is *managers' adjustments* and *managers' incremental adjustments*, respectively. Also, the residuals have about the same vertical spread on either side of the horizontal line drawn through the average residual and, thus, the assumption of homoscedasticity (or homogeneity of variance) is verified for both versions of equation 2.

Further, Tables 11 and 12 (Appendix 4) show that the problem of multicollinearity does not exist in any of the linear regression models performed, as the VIF values (which stands for *variance inflation factor*) are always lower than 10. This result indicates that no strong correlations exist between two or more independent variables.

As reported in Tables 13 and 14 (Appendix 4), the mean of the residuals is zero for both linear regressions (hence, the assumption regarding the mean of the residuals is also satisfied). Lastly, the histograms shown in Figures 4 and 5 (Appendix 4) allow visual assessment of the assumption that the residuals are normally distributed. Neither of the histograms exhibits any notable departures from normality, as they are bell-shaped and symmetric around zero. Therefore, the normality assumption is also apparently fulfilled.

Hence, overall, both linear regressions represented by equation 2 are adequate for the intended purposes since they satisfy all the assumptions of OLS regression model.

7.3.2 Logistic regression model

Given the binary structure of the dependent variables included in the five different versions of the logistic regression model proposed by equation 1, most assumptions of OLS regression are violated. First, logistic regression does not assume a linear relationship between the dependent and independent variables. Second, since the error terms produced from a logistic regression can only take on two values, they follow the binomial distribution instead of the normal distribution. Third, the error variance is not constant and, as a consequence, the assumption of homoscedasticity is violated.

Nonetheless, it is important to ensure the absence of multicollinearity between all independent variables. In this regard, it is usual to consider a critical VIF value of 10 to indicate a multicollinearity problem. VIF values reported in Table 15 (Appendix 4) provide evidence that there are no high correlations between two or more predictor variables, in any of the five logistic regressions performed, since all values are significantly lower than 10.

8. Conclusion, limitations and future research

This study investigates the effect of good governance practices on the strategic use of non-GAAP measures to beat five different earnings benchmarks: beating analysts' forecasts, reporting growth in profits, portraying better performance, beating industry performance and avoiding losses. This is accomplished using hand-collected data on the disclosure of non-GAAP financial measures by the 500 largest European firms from 2003 to 2007.

Overall, the results suggest that corporate governance has a strong influence on firms' voluntary disclosure decisions. As expected, firms' governance quality is negatively associated with managers' propensity to use non-GAAP measures for benchmark beating strategies. However, it does not seem to be effective at restraining the use of alternative earnings metrics to exceed analysts' expectations and to avoid losses. In this regard, the adoption of IFRS standards and a strong presence of insider investors are found to be effective at reducing the use of non-GAAP metrics to exceed the analyst forecast benchmark. However, none of the control variables considered in this study has a negative and significant impact on the firms' decision to disclose non-GAAP measures to avoid reporting a loss.

Consistent with prior literature, the results from the linear regression model indicate that, in the absence of regulation, corporate governance is effective at reducing potentially misleading non-GAAP adjustments. In fact, good governance practices reduce the magnitude of the difference between non-GAAP earnings and both GAAP measures and analysts' expectations.

These findings may provide useful insights to regulatory bodies interested in the introduction of non-GAAP rules in Europe, as they suggest that governance practices have only limited influence on the strategic use of non-GAAP earnings metrics.

A caveat of this study is that both linear regressions represented by equation 2 consider the total value of the non-GAAP adjustments made by managers, which may also include adjustments for items that are in fact transitory or non-recurring (and thus justifiable).

Future research might be able to examine whether the extent to which investors are misled by non-GAAP adjustments that are made to beat earnings benchmarks varies with the strength of corporate governance. Following Jennings and Marques (2011), this analysis might be performed by estimating the association between non-GAAP adjustments and subsequent stock returns.

9. References

Accounting Standards Board (1992), *Reporting Financial Performance*. Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 3. London: ASB.

Aggarwal, R., and Williamson, R. (2006), Did New Regulations Target the Relevant Corporate Governance Attributes? *Working Paper - Georgetown University*.

Aggarwal, R., Erel, I., Stulz, R. and Williamson, R. (2009), Differences in governance practices between U.S. and foreign firms: measurement, causes, and consequences. *Review of Financial Studies*, 2 (8), 3131 - 3169.

Aggarwal, R., Erel, I., Ferreira, M. and Matos, P. (2011), Does Governance Travel Around the World? Evidence from Institutional Investors. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 100 (1), 154-182.

Ajinkya, B., Bhojraj S. and Sengupta, P. (2005), The Association Between Outside Directors, Institutional Investors and the Properties of Management Earnings Forecasts. *Journal of Accounting Research* 43 (3), 343–76.

Allee, K., Bhattacharya, N., Black, E., and Christensen, T. (2007), Pro forma disclosure and investor sophistication: external validation of experimental evidence using archival data. *Accounting, Organizations and Society*, 32 (3), 201-222.

Andersson, P. and Hellman, N. (2007), Does pro forma reporting bias analyst forecasts? *European Accounting Review*, 16 (2), 277-289.

Aubert, F. (2010), The relative informativeness of GAAP and pro forma earnings announcements in France. *Journal of Accounting and Taxation* 2(1), 1-14.

Autorité des Marchés Financiers (2011), Activity Report for the Continuous Disclosure Review Program.

Barth, M., Landsman, W. and Lang, M. (2008), International accounting standards and accounting quality. *Journal of Accounting Research* 46, 467-498.

Beasley, S. (1996), An Empirical Analysis of the Relation Between Board of Director Composition and Financial Statement Fraud. *The Accounting Review*, 71 (4), 443–65.

Bebchuk, L. and Cohen, A. (2005), The Costs of Entrenched Boards. *Journal of Financial Economics* 78, 409-433.

Beekes, W. and Brown, P. (2006), Do better-governed Australian firms make more informative disclosures? *Journal of Business Finance & Accounting*, 33 (3), 422-450.

Bhattacharya, N., Black, E., Christensen, T. and Larson, C. (2003), Assessing the relative informativeness and permanence of pro forma earnings and GAAP operating earnings. *Journal of Accounting & Economics*, 36 (1-3), 285-319.

Bhattacharya, N., Black, E., Christensen, T., & Mergenthaler, R. (2004), Empirical evidence on recent trends in pro forma reporting. *Accounting Horizons*, 18, 27–43.

Bhattacharya, N., Black, E., Christensen, T., Mergenthaler, R. (2007), Who trades on pro forma earnings information? *The Accounting Review*, 82(3): 581-619.

Black, B., Jang, H. and Kim, W. (2006), Does Corporate Governance Predict Firms' Market Values? Evidence from Korea. *Journal of Law, Economics, and Organization*, 22 (2), 366-413.

Black, D. and Christensen, T. (2009), U.S. Managers' use of 'pro forma' adjustments to meet strategic earnings benchmarks. *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting*, 36, 297-326.

Black, D, Black, E., Christensen, T. and Waegelein, J. (2011), The effects of executive compensation contracts and auditor effort on firms' pro forma reporting decisions. *Working paper - Duke University*.

Bowen, R., Davis, A., Matsumoto, D. (2005), Emphasis on pro forma versus GAAP earnings in quarterly press releases: determinants, SEC intervention, and market reactions. *The Accounting Review* 80, 1011-1038.

Bradshaw, M. and R. Sloan (2002), GAAP Versus the Street: An Empirical Assessment of Two Alternative Definitions of Earnings, *Journal of Accounting Research* 40 (1), 41–66.

Brown, L. and Sivakumar, K., (2003), Comparing the quality of two operating income measures. *Review of Accounting Studies* 4, 561–572.

Brown, L., and Caylor, M. (2005), A temporal analysis of quarterly earnings thresholds: propensities and valuation consequences. *The Accounting Review* 80, 423-440.

Bruce, R. (2007), Making sense of counting beans across the globe, *Financial Times*, January 17, 2007.

Bruno, V., and Claessens, S. (2007), Corporate Governance and Regulation: Can There Be Too Much of A Good Thing?, *Working Paper - World Bank Policy Research*.

Bujaki M. and McConomy B. (2002), Corporate Governance: factors influencing voluntary disclosure by publicly traded Canadian firms. *Canadian Accounting Perspectives* 1 (2), 105-139.

Burgstahler, D. and Dichev, I. (1997), Earnings management to avoid earnings decreases and losses, *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 24, 99-126.

Bushee, B. (1998), The influence of institutional investors on myopic R&D investment behavior. *The Accounting Review* 73, 305-333.

Bushman, R., Piotroski, J. and Smith, A. (2004), Determinants of corporate transparency. *Journal of Accounting Research* 42, 207-252.

Christensen, T. (2007), Discussion of "Letting the 'Tail Wag the Dog': The Debate over GAAP versus Street Earnings Revisited." *Contemporary Accounting Research* 24, 741-762.

Claessens, S. (2003), Corporate governance and development, in Focus 1: Corporate Governance and Development. World Bank, Washington, D.C.

Commission of the European Communities (2003), Communication from the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament: *Modernizing Company Law and Enhancing Corporate Governance in the European Union - A Plan to Move Forward*.

Committee on the Financial Aspects of Corporate Governance (1992), Report with Code of Best Practice (Cadbury Report). London: Gee Publishing.

Committee of European Securities Regulators (2005), CESR recommendation on alternative performance measures.

D'Avolio, G., Gildor, E. and Shleifer, A. (2001), Technology, information production, and market efficiency. *Working paper - Harvard University*.

Daske, H., Luzi, H. Leuz, C. and Verdi, R. (2008), Mandatory IFRS reporting around theworld: early evidence on the economic consequences. *Journal of Accounting Research* 46, 1085–1142.

Dechow, M., Richardson, S. and Tuna, I. (2003), Why are earnings kinky? An examination of the earnings management explanation, *Review of Accounting Studies* 8, 355-384.

Degeorge, F., Patel, J. and Zeckhauser, R. (1999), Earnings Management to Exceed Thresholds. *Journal of Business* 72, 1–33.

Demirguc-Kunt, A. and Maksimovic, V. (1998), Law, Finance, and Firm Growth. *Journal of Finance* 53, 2107-2137.

Dharan, B. (2002), Enron's Accounting Issues: What Can We Learn to Prevent Future Enrons. *Written Testimony to House Energy and Commerce Committee Hearing*, February 6, 2002. (Published in the Congressional Records, 107th Congress).

Doidge, C., Karolyi, A. and Stulz, R. (2007), Why Do Countries Matter So Much for Corporate Governance? *Journal of Financial Economics* 86, 1–39.

Doyle, J. and M. Solimon (2002), Do Managers Use Pro Forma Earnings to Exceed Analyst Forecasts? *Working Paper - University of Michigan*.

Doyle, J., Lundholm R., Soliman, M. (2003), The predictive value of expenses excluded from non-GAAP earnings. *Review of Accounting Studies* 8, 145–174.

Doyle, J., Jennings, J. and Soliman, M. (2010), Do managers define non-GAAP earnings to meet or beat analyst forecasts? *Working Paper - University of Washington*.

Dreman, D. (2001), Fantasy earnings. Forbes, October 1, 2001.

Drobetz, W., Gugler, K., and Hirschvogl, S., (2005), The determinants of the German corporate governance rating. *Working Paper - University of Basel*.

Durnev, A. and Kim, H. (2005), To steal or not to steal: firm attributes, legal environment, and valuation. *Journal of Finance* 60, 1461–1493.

El-Gazzar, S. (1998), Predisclosure Information and Institutional Ownership: A Crosssectional Examination of Market Revaluation during Earnings Announcement Periods, Accounting Review 73 (1), 119-129

Elliott, W. (2006), Are investors influenced by pro forma emphasis and reconciliations in earnings announcements? *The Accounting Review*, 81 (1), 113-133.

Eng, L. and Mak, Y. (2003), Corporate governance and voluntary disclosure. *Journal of Accounting and Public Policy* 22, 325–345.

Entwistle, G., Feltham, G., and Mbagwu, C. (2006a), Misleading Disclosure of Pro Forma Earnings: An Empirical Examination, *Journal of Business Ethics* 69, 355-372.

Entwistle, G., Feltham, G., and Mbagwu, C. (2006b), Financial reporting regulation and the reporting of pro forma earnings. *Accounting Horizons*, 20 (1), 39–55.

Ernst & Young (2006), IFRS: Observations on the Implementation of IFRS.

European Financial Reporting Advisory Group (2006), Pro-active accounting activities in Europe. *What (if anything) is wrong with the good old income statement? Discussion Paper on Performance Reporting.* Brussels, Belgium: EFRAG.

European Financial Reporting Advisory Group. (2009). Pro-active accounting activities in Europe. *Performance reporting, a European discussion paper*. Brussels, Belgium: EFRAG.

Financial Accounting Standards Board (2002), Reporting Information about the Financial Performance Reporting by Business Enterprises: *Focusing on the Form and Content of Financial Statements*.

Francis, J., Khurana, I. and Pereira, R. (2005), Disclosure Incentives and Effects on Cost of Capital Around the World. *Accounting Review* 80, 1125-1162.

Frankel, R., McVay, S. and Solimon, M. (2006), Street earnings and board independence. *Working paper - Washington University in St Louis*.

Frankel, R., McVay, S. and Solimon, M. (2011), Non-GAAP earnings and board independence. *Review of Accounting Studies* (forthcoming).

Gillan, S. (2006), Recent Development in Corporate Governance: An Overview, Journal of Corporate Finance, 12 (3), 381-402.

Gompers, P., Ishii, J. and Metrick, A. (2003), Corporate Governance and Equity Prices. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 118, 107-155.

Graham, J., Harvey, C. and Rajgopal, S. (2004), The economic implications of corporate financial reporting. *Working paper - Duke University*.

Gul, F. and Leung, S. (2004), Board leadership, outside directors' expertise and voluntary corporate disclosures. *Journal of Accounting and Public Policy* 23, 351-379.

Halsey, B. and Soybel, G. 2002. All about pro forma accounting. *The CPA Journal*, 72, 13.

Hart, O. (1995), Corporate Governance: Some Theory and Implications. *Economic Journal* 105, 678-689.

Healy, P. and Palepu, K. (2001), Information asymmetry, corporate disclosure, and the capital markets: a review of the empirical disclosure literature. *Journal of Accounting and Economics* 31, 405-440.

Heflin, F. and Hsu, C. (2005), The impact of the SEC's regulation of non-GAAP disclosures. *Working paper - Florida State University*.

Hitz, J. (2010), Information versus strategic reporting: Determinants of the disclosure of pro forma earnings by large German corporations. *Journal für Betriebswirtschaft* (JfB) (2010), S. 127-161.

Holthausen, R. W., Watts, R. L. (2001), The relevance of the value-relevance literature for financial accounting standard setting. *Journal of Accounting & Economics* 31, 3-75.

International Finance Corporation (2008), EU Corporate Governance Standards: A Seminar for EU Candidate and Potential Candidate Countries Including Lessons Learned from New Members. Global Corporate Governance Forum. International Finance Corporation/United Nations Global Compact (2009), Corporate Governance: The Foundation for Corporate Citizenship and Sustainable Businesses.

International Organization of Securities Commissions (2002), Technical Committee Release: *Cautionary Statement Regarding Non-GAAP Results Measures*.

Isidro, H. and Marques, A. (2008), Non-GAAP financial disclosures: Evidence from European firms' press releases, *Working paper*.

Isidro, H. and Marques, A. (2010) The role of institutional and economic forces in the strategic use of non-GAAP disclosures to beat earnings benchmarks. *Working paper - IUL ISCTE Business School*.

Isidro, H. and Marques, A. (2011), The effect of compensation and board quality on non-GAAP reporting decisions, submitted to *The International Journal of Accounting*.

Jennings, R., and Marques, A. (2011), The joint effects of corporate governance and regulation on the disclosure of manager-adjusted non-GAAP earnings. *Journal of Business Finance & Accounting*, 38 (3-4), 364-394.

Jensen, M. and Meckling, W. (1976), Theory of the firm: Managerial behavior, agency costs and owner-ship structure. *Journal of Financial Economics* 3, 305-360.

Jiambalvo, J., S. Rajgopal, and M. Venkatachalam (2002), Institutional Ownership and the Extent to which Stock Prices Reflect Future Earnings. *Contemporary Accounting Research* 19, 177-145.

Johnson, W. Bruce, and William C. Schwartz Jr. (2005), Are Investors Misled by "Pro Forma" Earnings? *Contemporary Accounting Research*, 22 (4), 915-963.

Karamanou I. and Vafeas, N. (2005), The association between corporate boards, audit committees and management earnings forecasts: An empirical analysis. *Journal of Accounting Research* 43(2), 453-486.

Khanchel, I. (2007), Corporate governance: measurement and determinant analysis. *Managerial Auditing Journal*, 22 (8), 740-760.

Klapper, L. and Love, I. (2004), Corporate governance, investor protection and performance in emerging markets. *Journal of Corporate Finance*, 10, 703-728.

Kolev, K., Marquardt, C., McVay, S. (2008), SEC scrutiny and the evolution of non-GAAP reporting. *The Accounting Review* 83, 157–184.

Lakhal, F. (2003), Earning voluntary disclosures and corporate governance: Evidence from France. (Available at www.ssrn.com)

Lee, E. and Park, K. (2008), Determinants of the corporate governance of Korean firms. *Corporate Ownership & Control*, 5 (2), 15-23.

Lev, B. and Zarowin, P. (1999), The boundaries of financial reporting and how to extend them. *Journal of Accounting Research* 37, 353-385.

Lougee, B. and Marquardt, C. (2004), Earnings informativeness and strategic disclosure: an empirical examination of pro forma earnings. *The Accounting Review* 79, 769-795.

Marques, A. (2006) SEC interventions and the frequency and usefulness of non-GAAP financial measures. *Review of Accounting Studies*, 11 (4), 549-574.

Marques, A. (2010), Disclosure strategies among S&P 500 firms: Evidence on the disclosure of non-GAAP financial measures and financial statements in earnings press releases. *The British Accounting Review* 42, 119-131.

Mbagwu, C. (2007), *Essays on the value relevance of earnings measures*. Ph.D. Thesis, Department of Accounting, University of Saskatchewan.

McNamee, M. (2001), Words of Warning from the SEC. *Bloomberg Businessweek*, November 26, 2001.

Murphy, K. (1998), "Executive Compensation," Handbook of Labor Economics, Ashenfelter, O. and Card, D. (Editors), Vol. 3, North Holland.

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (2004), OECD Principles of Corporate Governance. Paris, France: OECD.

Peasnell, K., Pope, P. and Young, S. (2005), Board monitoring and earnings management: do outside directors influence abnormal accruals? *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting*, 32, 1311-1346.

Phillips, T., Luehlfing, M., and Vallario, C. (2002), Hazy reporting. *Journal of Accountancy* (August), 47-50.

Ribstein, L. (2002), Market vs. regulatory responses to corporate fraud: A critique of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. *Working Paper - University of Illinois College of Law*.

Sautner, Z. and Weber M. (2007), Corporate Governance and the Design of Stock Option Programs. *Working Paper - University of Amsterdam and University of Mannheim*.

Shleifer, A., and R. Vishny (1997), A Survey of Corporate Governance. *Journal of Finance* 52, 737-783.

Silveira, A., Leal, R., Carvalhal-da-Silva, A., Barros, L. (2009), Evolution and Determinants of Firm-Level Corporate Governance Quality in Brazil. *Revista de Administração da USP*, 44 (3), 173-189.

Solomon, A. and Solomon, F. (1999), Empirical evidence of long-termism and Shareholder Activism in UK unit trusts. *Corporate Governance: An International Review* 7 (3), 288-300.

Tasker, S. (1998), Bridging the information gap: Quarterly conference calls as a medium for voluntary disclosure. *Review of Accounting Studies* 3, 137-167.

Uzun, H., Szewczyk, S. and Varma, R. (2004), Board Composition and Corporate Fraud. *Financial Analysts Journal*, 60 (3), 33–43.

Velury, U. and Jenkins, D. (2006), Institutional Ownership and the Quality of Earnings, *Journal of Business Research* 59 (9), 1043–51.

Weil, J. (2001), Companies pollute earnings reports leaving P/E ratios hard to calculate. *The Wall Street Journal*, August 21, 2001.

Wolfensohn, J. (1998), A Battle for Corporate Honesty, The Economist, 19 November.

Yi, H. (2007), Has Regulation G improved the information quality of non-GAAP earnings disclosures? *Working paper - University of Oklahoma*.

Zhang, I. (2007), Economic Consequences of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. *Journal of Accounting and Economics* 44, 74-115.

Zheka, V. (2007), Corporate Governance Determinants: The Firm-Level Evidence from Transitional Country, Ukraine. *Working paper* (Available at www.ssrn.com)

Appendix 1 – Table 9. Firm-level governance attributes

Panel A: Board

- 1 All directors attended 75% of board meetings or had a valid excuse
- 2 CEO serves on the boards of two or fewer public companies
- 3 Board is controlled by more than 50% independent outside directors
- 4 Board size is at greater than five but less than 16
- 5 CEO is not listed as having a related-party transaction
- 6 Compensation committee composed solely of independent outsiders
- 7 Chairman and CEO positions are separated, or there is a lead director
- 8 Nominating committee composed solely of independent outsiders
- 9 Governance committee exists and met in the past year
- 10 Shareholders vote on directors selected to fill vacancies
- 11 Governance guidelines are publicly disclosed
- 12 Annually elected board (no staggered board)
- 13 Policy exists on outside directorships (four or fewer boards is the limit)
- 14 Shareholders have cumulative voting rights
- 15 Shareholder approval is required to increase/decrease board size
- 16 Majority vote requirement to amend charter/bylaws (not supermajority)
- 17 Board has the express authority to hire its own advisers
- 18 Performance of the board is reviewed regularly
- 19 Board-approved succession plan in place for the CEO
- 20 Outside directors meet without CEO and disclose number of times met
- 21 Directors are required to submit resignation upon a change in job
- 22 Board cannot amend bylaws without shareholder approval or can do so only under limited circumstances
- 23 Does not ignore shareholder proposal
- 24 Qualifies for proxy contest defenses combination points

Panel B: Audit

- 25 Consulting fees paid to auditors are less than audit fees paid to auditors
- 26 Audit committee composed solely of independent outsiders
- 27 Auditors ratified at most recent annual meeting

Panel C: Anti-takeover provisions

- 28 Single class, common shares
- 29 Majority vote requirement to approve mergers (not supermajority)
- 30 Shareholders may call special meetings
- 31 Shareholders may act by written consent
- 32 Company either has no poison pill or a pill that is shareholder approved
- 33 Company is not authorized to issue blank check preferred

Panel D: Compensation and ownership

- 34 Directors are subject to stock ownership requirements
- 35 Executives are subject to stock ownership guidelines
- 36 No interlocks among compensation committee members
- 37 Directors receive all or a portion of their fees in stock
- 38 All stock-incentive plans adopted with shareholder approval
- 39 Options grants align with company performance and reasonable burn rate
- 40 Officers' and directors' stock ownership is at least 1% but not over 30% of total shares

outstanding

41 – Repricing prohibited

Source: Aggarwal et al. (2011), p. 40

Table 9: This table presents the 41 governance attributes included in the governance index, as defined in Aggarwal et al. (2011). The attributes were organized into four subcategories: board, audit, anti-takeover provisions, and compensation and ownership. The data source is RiskMetrics (formerly Institutional Shareholder Services).

Variable	Definitions
Analysts' forecasts _{i,t}	Indicator variable coded one if non-GAAP earnings meet or beat analysts' expectations when GAAP earnings fall short of analysts' earnings forecasts for firm <i>i</i> in year <i>t</i> , and zero otherwise
Growth in profits _{i,t}	Indicator variable that equals one if non-GAAP earnings meet or beat previous year's GAAP earnings when GAAP earnings fail to meet previous year's GAAP earnings for firm <i>i</i> in year <i>t</i> , and zero otherwise
Better performance _{i,t}	Indicator variable coded one if non-GAAP numbers exceed GAAP earnings for firm i in year t , and zero otherwise
Industry performance _{i,t}	Indicator variable that takes the value of one if ROE (return on equity) based on non-GAAP earnings meet or beat the median industry ROE when ROE based on GAAP numbers does not meet the industry ROE for firm i in year t , and zero otherwise
Avoid losses _{i,t}	Indicator variable that equals one if non-GAAP earnings are positive when GAAP numbers are negative for firm i in year t , and zero otherwise
Managers' adjustments _{i,t}	Difference between the first non-GAAP number reported in the annual earnings press release and the corresponding GAAP disclosed in the financial reports scaled by stock price at the end of the previous year, for firm i in year t
Managers' incremental adjustments _{i,t}	Difference between the first non-GAAP number reported in the annual earnings press release and the analysts' median forecast of earnings scaled by stock price at the end of the previous year, for firm i in year t
Governance	Percentage of the 41 governance attributes that firm i satisfies in year t
quality _{i,t} Intangibles _{i,t}	Ratio of intangible assets to total assets, for firm i in year t
Firm size _{i,t}	Log of market capitalization, for firm <i>i</i> in year <i>t</i>
Special items _{i,t}	Indicator variable that takes the value of one if the firm i reports special or extraordinary items or discontinuing operations in year t , and zero otherwise
Leverage _{i,t}	Ratio of debt to total assets, for firm <i>i</i> in year <i>t</i>
Insider ownership _{i,t}	Percentage of the firm's shares owned by insider investors, for firm i in year t
Analyst coverage _{i,t}	Log of the number of earnings estimates made by financial analysts, for firm i in year t
Financing needs _{i,t}	Difference between the required investment to grow (i.e. two-year average growth in total assets) and the proportion of the firm's earnings that are reinvested (i.e. two-year average ROE/[1-ROE]), for firm i in year t
IFRS _{i,t}	Indicator variable coded one if the firm i reports under IFRS in year t , and zero otherwise
Listing US _{i,t}	Indicator variable that equals one if the firm i is cross-listed in a U.S. market in year t , and zero otherwise

Appendix 2 - Table 10. Variable definitions



Appendix 3 - Figure 1. Governance quality mean by year

Figure 1. Governance quality mean by year: This figure shows the average of governance quality by year in the period 2003 – 2007. *Governance quality* is the percentage of the 41 governance attributes (as described in Table 9 of Appendix 1) that a firm satisfies. For instance, an index of 100% means that a company meets all 41 governance attributes.

Appendix 4 – Regression Assumptions



Figure 2. Scatter plot between standardized predicted values and standardized error residuals for *managers' adjustments*

Figure 3. Scatter plot between standardized predicted values and

standardized error residuals for managers' incremental adjustments



Variable	Tolerance	VIF
Governance quality	0,430	2,326
Intangibles	0,631	1,584
Special items	0,840	1,190
Firm size	0,698	1,432
Leverage	0,670	1,492
Listing US	0,747	1,339
IFRS	0,355	2,819
Insider ownership	0,641	1,560
Analyst coverage	0,756	1,323
Financing needs	0,964	1,038

Table 11. Collinearity statistics for the linear regression model where the dependent variable is *managers' adjustments*

Table 12. Collinearity statistics for the linear regression model where the dependent variable is *managers' incremental adjustments*

Variable	Tolerance	VIF	
Governance quality	0,447	2,237	
Intangibles	0,650	1,537	
Special items	0,824	1,214	
Firm size	0,692	1,444	
Leverage	0,677	1,476	
Listing US	0,748	1,337	
IFRS	0,366	2,729	
Insider ownership	0,646	1,547	
Analyst coverage	0,741	1,349	
Financing needs	0,960	1,042	

Table 13. Residuals statistics for the linear regression model where the dependent variable is *managers' adjustments*

Variable	Mean	Std.Deviation	N
Predicted Value	0,045	0,066	616
Residual	0,000	0,147	616
Std. Predicted Value	0,000	1,000	616
Std. Residual	0,000	0,970	616

Table 14. Residuals statistics for the linear regression model where the dependent variable is managers' incremental adjustments

Valla	sie is munugers in	ncrementat aajasiments	
Variable	Mean	Std.Deviation	N
Predicted Value	0,092	0,048	593
Residual	0,000	0,104	593
Std. Predicted Value	0,000	1,000	593
Std. Residual	0,000	0,969	593





Figure 5. Histogram of the residuals for the linear regression model where the dependent variable is *managers' incremental adjustments*



Panel A: Analysts' forecasts	s (Benchmark 1)	
Variable	Tolerance	VIF
Governance quality	0,814	1,228
Intangibles	0,903	1,108
Special items	0,946	1,057
Firm size	0,652	1,534
Leverage	0,903	1,108
Listing US	0,915	1,093
IFRS	0,901	1,110
Insider ownership	0,837	1,194
Analyst coverage	0,684	1,461
Financing needs	0,978	1,022
Panel B: Growth in profits (Benchmark 2)	
Variable	Tolerance	VIF
Governance quality	0,806	1,240
Intangibles	0,913	1,095
Special items	0,952	1,051
Firm size	0,643	1,555
Leverage	0,908	1,101
Listing US	0,917	1,090
IFRS	0,902	1,108
Insider ownership	0,829	1,206
Analyst coverage	0,681	1,468
Financing needs	0,973	1,028
Panel C: Better performanc	e (Benchmark 3)	
Variable	Tolerance	VIF
Governance quality	0,806	1,240
Intangibles	0,913	1,095
Special items	0,952	1,051
Firm size	0,643	1,555
Leverage	0,908	1,101
Listing US	0,917	1,090
IFRS	0,902	1,108
Insider ownership	0,829	1,206
Analyst coverage	0,681	1,468
Financing needs	0,973	1,028

Table 15. Collinearity statistics for the logistic regression model

Variable	Tolerance	VIF
Governance quality	0,806	1,240
Intangibles	0,913	1,095
Special items	0,952	1,051
Firm size	0,643	1,555
Leverage	0,908	1,101
Listing US	0,917	1,090
IFRS	0,902	1,108
Insider ownership	0,829	1,206
Analyst coverage	0,681	1,468
Financing needs	0,973	1,028
Panel E: Avoid losses (Ber	ichmark 5)	
Variable	Tolerance	VIF
Governance quality	0,814	1,228
Intangibles	0,903	1,108
Special items	0,946	1,057
	0,652	1,534
Firm size	0,032	
Firm size Leverage	0,903	1,108
	,	1,108 1,093
Leverage	0,903	
Leverage Listing US	0,903 0,915	1,093
Leverage Listing US IFRS	0,903 0,915 0,901	1,093 1,110